Byurakan Astrophysical Observatory

# Hovhannes Demirtshyan

# Integrable systems connected with black holes

PhD Thesis

01.03.02 - Astrophysics Adviser: Armen Nersessian

Byurakan-2019

# CONTENTS

## 1 Introduction

4

<b>2</b>	Geo	Geodesic congruences, impulsive gravitational waves and gravitational			
	mer	nory	11		
	2.1	Impulsive signals in null hypersurfaces	13		
	2.2	$\mathcal{B}$ -memory as gravitational memory	17		
	2.3	The setup and proposal	20		
	2.4	Null Congruences crossing horizon shells	22		
	2.5	How the shell modifies the congruence.	24		
		2.5.1 Newman-Unti soldering transformations	26		
		2.5.2 BMS soldering	27		
	2.6	Discussion	29		
3	Inte	egrability of geodesics in near-horizon extremal Myers-Perry black holes:			
	Spe	cial cases	31		
	3.1	NHEMP in arbitrary dimensions; unified description	34		
	3.2	Probe-particle dynamics	35		
	3.3	Fully Non-isotropic case	37		
		3.3.1 Constants of motion	40		
		3.3.2 Cases of 7, 9 and 11 dimensions	41		
		3.3.3 Generalization to arbitrary dimensions	43		

		3.3.4 Killing tensors	45	
	3.4	The fully isotropic, equal rotation parameters	46	
4	Inte	egrability of geodesics in general non-vanishing and vanishing NHEMP		
	geo	metry	49	
	4.1	Partially isotropic cases	50	
		4.1.1 Partially isotropic case in odd dimension	50	
		4.1.2 General case	53	
		4.1.3 Contraction from fully non-isotropic to isotropic NHEMP	55	
	4.2	Extremal vanishing horizon case	57	
	4.3	Discussion	61	
<b>5</b>	Sup	perintegrable quantum systems		
	and	resonant spacetimes	64	
	5.1	General formulation of the procedure	67	
	5.2	The massless case	71	
	5.3	KG background dual to Higgs oscillator	73	
	5.4	KG background dual to Rosochatius system	75	
		5.4.1 The superintegrable Rosochatius system	75	
		5.4.2 Klein-Gordonization of the		
		superintegrable Rosochatius system	78	
	5.5	Discussion	79	
Conclusion 82				
Sı	Summary			
П				
- <b>K</b>	eiere	nces	ō9	

## CHAPTER 1

## INTRODUCTION

Einstein equations have been discovered for over a century now and found many important applications [2] in experimental and theoretical physics. Despite the long period they are being studied by the scientific community, there are just a few exact solutions [2, 3] known so far and one class of them is called black hole (BH) metrics. These solutions were one of the main discoveries of general relativity, first of all, due to their astrophysical importance. Black holes are assumed to be a final step in star evolution [4–6], are believed to make an important contribution in galaxy formation processes [7–9] and are "blamed" to be responsible for a great amount of high energy radiation [10, 11] that we detect in the universe. Although black holes have not been observed directly, their indirect observations are overwhelming [12–14] and from general considerations it is believed that they should be rotating objects with almost no electric charge. The space-time of such a black hole is best approximated by the Kerr metric [15], which is a four-dimensional stationary, asymptoticly flat vacuum solution of Einstein's equations. There exists higher dimensional generalization of Kerr space-time which is called Myers-Perry black hole [78]. Just like Kerr black hole, it is also a stationary, asymptoticly flat vacuum solution of Einstein's equations which describes a spinning black hole in an arbitrary dimension.

An important special case of Kerr black hole is the so called extremal Kerr solution which has the smallest possible mass for a given angular momentum or charge. Some astrophysical black holes have been claimed to be very close to the extremity bound, e.g. Cygnus X-1 [16] or MCG-6-30-15 [17], although other independent data analyses led to opposite results [19]. If in the future, the measurements of high angular momentum will be confirmed, extremal black holes will start to represent real astrophysical interest.

Black hole geometries are also important objects in mathematical physics. Many of them represent a background for integrable systems. Some of these integrable systems have been unknown prior to their discovery in black hole geometries. Particularly interesting is the integrability of Hamilton-Jacobi equation as it describes the geodesics of particles. Geodesics in the near horizon limit of Kerr black hole are associated with black hole accretions which might be a source of Very High Energy (VHE) gamma-ray bursts (for a review [20]). Accretions around black holes can also be the key to the first direct observation of a black hole [60] (e.g. with the Event Horizon Telescope).

As it is known, the Killing vectors of a geometry are associated with integrals of motion of a geodesic in that metric. In the case of the near horizon metric of an extremal rotating black hole, the killing vectors obey the structural relation of SO(2, 1) algebra. It has been demonstrated (e.g. [40, 42, 63, 71]) that the Casimir element of this SO(2, 1) algebra gives rise to a reduced Hamiltonian system called spherical or angular mechanics, which contains all the specific information about the near horizon geometry. By reformulating this discussion one can say that a massive particle moving in the near horizon geometry of an extremal rotating black hole possesses dynamical conformal symmetry, i.e. defines "conformal mechanics" [33, 38, 40– 49, 77], whose Casimir element can be viewed as a reduced Hamiltonian, which contains all the necessary information about the whole system.

On the other hand this reduced Hamiltonian or the spherical mechanics can be thought of as a separate system. Spherical mechanics associated with near horizon extremal black hole geometries are relatively unexplored. Latest works in this direction include [43], where the Hamiltonian of the spherical mechanics associated with Near Horizon Extreme Myers-Perry (NHEMP) geometry has been constructed for the special case when all rotation parameters of the black hole are equal. In [48,49] the integrability of this system has been proven and the integrals of motion were presented. Extremal Myers-Perry black holes with nonequal nonvanishing rotation parameters in odd dimensions have been studied in [33] where the integrability of such systems was proven and separation of variables was carried out.

As we will see, the near horizon geometry of Myers-Perry black holes contains integrable and superintegrable systems like Rosochatius and Pöschl-Teller systems. Studies of these kind of systems is important as they appear in many topics of theoretical physics. Another approach that we have adopted here for investigating such systems is their geometrization procedure. Geometrical counterparts of classical systems have been studied extensively. They provide a new viewpoint to existing and well-known classical systems and spread some light on their underlying structure. An important approach for geometrization of classical problems is the Jacobi metric approach [88–90]. This is a procedure for producing a geodesic from a given Hamiltonian, which has many important applications. In particular, Onge studied the curvature of the the Jacobi metric for the Newtonian N-body problem [91], which in N = 2 case, reduces to the Kepler's problem of the relative motion.

We will propose a geometrization procedure for quantum systems. We are mostly interested in problems which are superintegrable in higher dimensions. Particularly interesting are the Higgs oscillator [98, 99], which is a particle on a *d*-sphere with a specific potential and the superintegrable Rosochatius system - a direct generalization of the Higgs oscillator. We will encounter the classical superintegrable Rosochatius system in **Section 3.4** as the angular mechanics of near horizon limit of fully isotropic Myers-Perry black hole. Separation of variables in Rosochatius system results into a recursive family of one-dimensional Pöschl-Teller system.

Higgs oscillator, Rosochatius system and Pöschl-Teller system belong to a class of quantum quantum systems where energy are quadratic functions of the energy level number. After the geometrization procedure proposed in **Chapter 5**, these systems will result into Klein-Gordon equations with eigenmode frequencies linear in the frequency level number. In other words this

means that the frequencies are highly resonant, which itself has important consequences in the AdS stability problem (see [104] for a review).

Another important class of solutions of Einstein's equations are gravitational waves. Compared to black holes, gravitational waves have been directly detected in 2015 by two LIGO (Laser Interferometer Gravitational-wave Observatory) detectors. The existence of gravitational waves has been proven by indirect astrophysical observations long before their detection. In particular, the presence of gravitational waves was confirmed by monitoring the orbital parameters of the binary millisecond pulsar PSR B1913+16 [18]. Because of the gravitational radiation, the objects in the binary system lose energy and angular momentum which was detected and corresponded to the quantitative predictions of the theory. Besides being a real physical phenomena and one of the most important predictions of the theory of general relativity, gravitational waves will take an important role in observational astronomy. Compared to other types of radiation, e.g. photons, neutrinos and cosmic rays, gravitational waves don't get refracted by gas clouds and absorbed by cosmic bodies and can travel big distances, pointing directly back to the source. The importance of gravitational wave detectors will grow with their sensibility.

When a pair of inertial test particles encounter gravitational waves, their relative positions get shifted permanently. This phenomena is called the gravitational memory effect. It is known to be related to the theory of soft gravitons and symmetries of null infinity of asymptotically flat spaces and particularly black holes. In **Chapter 2** we are going to discuss this effect and suggest its covariant formulation in frames of a model of impulsive gravitational waves. This model assumes that the space-time is divided into two domains by a hypersurface, which in general can contain a mixture of gravitational waves and other material sources. There are many examples of physical systems in nature which can be described in frames of this model. Such systems may appear after cataclysmic astrophysical events, such as a supernova or a collision of neutron stars. These systems are used to simulate an exploding white hole,

to model an impulsive null signal from a system of neighboring test particles and have many other applications. In general one can choose these two metrics to be either continuous or discontinuous on the boundary hypersurface subject to the condition that the induced metric is unique, but either way the metric's transverse derivative will not be continuous. This always leads to a singularity in the form of a  $\delta$ -function in the Riemann tensor.

Solutions to the Einstein equations give different results depending on whether the boundary surface is taken to be null or timelike (spacelike). In the first case, when the hypersurface is null, both Weyl and Ricci parts of the Riemann tensor are singular. As it is known, the Weyl part of the Riemann tensor is associated with gravitational waves, whereas the Ricci tensor has non-zero value only in the presence of some material source. Hence, in the case of null boundary hypersurface, both a material source and an impulsive tidal wave can be present. When the boundary surface is timelike, only the Ricci tensor is singular, giving rise only to a matter stress-energy tensor. Depending on the matter distribution, the discussed hypersurfaces are classified into two types: shock waves or boundary surfaces, which arise when there is a jump discontinuity in the density of the stress-energy tensor between the two metrics that they divide and surface layers, otherwise called thin shells, where the density becomes infinite.

There are two different approaches to describe singular hypersurfaces. The first one is called the distributional method. In this case a common set of coordinates is used for both sides of the hypersurface. The other method is a generalization of the "cut and paste" approach of Penrose. Here, the space-time coordinates on the two sides of the hypersurface can be chosen independently from each other, so in this sense it is a more general approach than the distributional algorithm. It was introduced by Israel to describe timelike hypersurfaces [1] but it was not suitable for the case of null hypersurfaces. In the timelike case, the Israel approach uses the extrinsic curvature of the hypersurface to describe the stress-energy tensor in it. When we move to the null case, the intrinsic metric of the hypersurface space-time becomes degenerate, because the normal vector becomes tangent and there is no distinguishable transverse vector defined. Hence, the extrinsic curvature, which is defined in terms of the metric, is no longer uniquely definable, so it cannot be used to study the hypersurface. This problem was solved and the approach was generalized for the lightlike case by Barrabès and Israel [22].

In this thesis we are going to discuss different problems related to asymptotic flat spaces, integrable systems and mathematical physics associated with black holes. First, we will study gravitational memory effect which is known to have deep connections with soft gravitons and symmetries of null infinity of asymptotically flat spaces. Then, we will discuss Myers-Perry black holes, more particularly, the near horizon geometry and associated integrable systems. Finally, we will propose a geometrization procedure for a special class of quantum (super)integrable systems, which appear in many topics of mathematical physics ( including in near horizon geometry of Myers-Perry black hole).

This thesis is based on the papers [72–77]. The research done in **Chapter 2** was carried out under supervision of Martin O'Loughlin. The problem addressed in **Chapter 5** was suggested and solved in cooperation with Oleg Evnin. It is organized as follows. In **Chapter 2** we study the effects that an impulsive signal in a singular hypersurface can have on a particle which encounters it. A similar question has been discussed by Barrabès and Hogan in [31] for the case of timelike particles, where they have constructed the geodesics deviation vector in the first order approximation and found a relation between the geodesic deviation vector, the stress-energy content and gravitational wave components of the shell. We propose a new approach for studying the effect of null shells on null geodesic congruences. This is an exact method which allows one to easily calculate the change in the expansion, shear and rotation of the congruence upon crossing the shell and its evolution to the future of the shell. We find that the effect of the shell on the congruence, as already observed in the time-like case in [30], is a discontinuity in the B-tensor (the gradient of the geodesic vector). We call this the B-memory effect, which is a more covariant way of describing the gravitational memory effect. Gravitational memory effect has deep connections with soft gravitons [26], which in turn is linked to the symmetries of null infinity of asymptotically flat spaces [24,25]. We found the explicit relation of B-memory with the stress energy and gravitational wave components of the shell. We consider the simplest case of a null shell representing an outgoing gravitational wave and parametrized by a general soldering transformation (a subclass of which are the BMS supertranslations) in Minkowski space, but our method is applicable to any geodesic congruence that crosses a null shell localized on a killing horizon.

In Chapter 3 and Chapter 4 conformal mechanics associated with Near Horizon geometry of Extremal Myers-Perry (NHEMP) black hole has been studied. First, a unified description of an arbitrary odd and even dimensional geometry and conformal mechanics has been proposed. Then, the question integrability of special cases of fully non-isotropic and fully isotropic cases has been addressed in this description. We have found a non-trivial transformation from nonisotropic NHEMP conformal mechanics to its isotropic case. Furthermore, the general case, when groups of equal and non-equal rotation parameters exist, has been studied and shown that this problem reduces to its special cases of fully non-isotropic and fully isotropic NHEMP conformal mechanics. At the end of the **Chapter 4** another non-trivial near-horizon geometry has been discussed. The so-called Near Horizon Extremal Vanishing Horizon Myers-Perry black hole (NHEVHMP) is obtained when one of the rotation parameters of the Myers-Perry black hole vanishes. We studied the integrability properties of NHEVHMP in higher dimensions in fully isotropic, fully non-isotropic and general cases.

In **Chapter 5** we propose a geometrization procedure which associates to a non-relativistic quantum particle in a potential on a curved spacetime a purely geodesic motion in another spacetime. In other words, we propose a correspondence between the solutions of Schroedinger equation and Klein-Gordon equation on a corresponding manifold, which itself, as it is well known, reduces to a geodesic equation through quasi-classical of Eikonal approximation. We will explain this procedure on the example of the Higgs oscillator and superintegrable Rosochatius system.

10

### CHAPTER 2

# GEODESIC CONGRUENCES, IMPULSIVE GRAVITATIONAL WAVES AND GRAVITATIONAL MEMORY

The study of impulsive gravitational waves in the form of null shells has recently received renewed attention due to their possible role in the transfer of information from black hole horizons to null infinity. As the black hole horizon is a killing horizon, there is an infinite variety of ways to attach (solder) the black hole interior to the black hole exterior creating a null shell on the horizon [22, 23]. A subclass of these can be shown to correspond to BMS like supertranslations. Furthermore the long studied BMS supertranslations at null infinity of asymptotically flat spaces are linked to the physics of soft gravitons which appear to play an important role in restoring information not seen in the hard gravitons of Hawking radiation [24, 25]. In turn the soft gravitons are related to the gravitational memory effect [26].

Gravitational memory [27–29] is the classical change in nearby geodesics in an asymptotically flat region of space-time as they pass through an outgoing gravitational wave. The study of the effect of a null shell on a time-like congruence that crosses it has been addressed by Barrabes and Hogan [30,31]. They calculated the change in the tangent vector and the geodesic deviation vector together with the expansion, shear and rotation upon crossing an impulsive gravitational wave and found a jump in the acceleration of the geodesic and derivatives of the geodesic deviation vector proportional to the stress-energy content and gravitational wave components of the shell.

To further understand the relationship between gravitons and gravitational memory it is thus important to study the effect of waves on null geodesic congruences, not only as the congruence crosses the wave but also the future evolution of the congruence. In this chapter we describe a new exact approach for studying the effect of null shells on null geodesic congruences. This method allows one to easily calculate the change in the  $\mathcal{B}$ -tensor, which encodes the expansion, shear and rotation of the congruence, upon crossing the shell and its evolution to the future of the shell. We find that the effect of the shell on the congruence, as already observed in the time-like case in [30], is a discontinuity in the  $\mathcal{B}$ -tensor, which we will refer to as  $\mathcal{B}$ -memory effect, not to be confused with the B-mode gravitational memory. We show how this  $\mathcal{B}$ -memory is determined by the stress energy and gravitational wave components of the shell. We consider the simplest case of a null shell representing an outgoing gravitational wave and parametrised by a general soldering transformation (a subclass of which are the BMS supertranslations) in Minkowski space, but our method is applicable to any geodesic congruence that crosses a null shell localised on a killing horizon. It is intriguing to note that our formulation of  $\mathcal{B}$ -memory has much in common with gravitational memory as formulated in [29].

In Section 2.1 we give a short review of the model of impulsive signals and the distributional algorithm for constructing null singular shells. In Section 2.2 we introduce the concept of a B-memory effect as a covariant formulation of gravitational memory. In Section 2.3 we describe the setup of the problem and give a general description of the suggested approach. A detailed discussion of the approach is carried out in Section 2.4 while in Section 2.5 the detailed behavior of a lightlike congruence is studied. In Section 2.6 we discuss our results and their relation to other formulations of gravitational memory, in particular to that reviewed in [29].

The results of this chapter were obtained in cooperation with Martin O'Loughlin and are based on [72].

#### 2.1 IMPULSIVE SIGNALS IN NULL HYPERSURFACES

In this section we will discuss a space-time manifold  $\mathcal{M}$  which is divided into two domains by a null hypersurface with a  $C^0$  metric tensor (metric tensor is continuous across the hypersurface but its first derivatives are not). We will denote the domain on the left side of the hypersurface by  $\mathcal{M}^+$  and on the right side of the hypersurface by  $\mathcal{M}^-$  (see fig. 1). Let  $x^{\mu}$  ( $\mu = 0, 1, 2, 3$ ) be the local coordinates on both sides of the hypersurface and  $\Phi(x) = 0$  be the equation of the hypersurface, with  $\Phi > 0$  corresponding to  $\mathcal{M}^+$  and  $\Phi < 0$  to  $\mathcal{M}^-$ . The normal vector to the lightlike hypersurface is

$$n^{\mu} = \chi^{-1}(x)g^{\mu\nu}\partial_{\nu}\Phi(x), \qquad n \cdot n \equiv g_{\mu\nu}n^{\mu}n^{\nu}|_{\pm} = 0, \tag{1}$$

where  $g_{\mu\nu}^{\pm}$  are the components of the metric tensor on space-time  $\mathcal{M}^+ \bigcup \mathcal{M}^-$  and  $\chi$  is an arbitrary function. Any tensor field will be denoted by + or - superscripts on  $\mathcal{M}^+$  and  $\mathcal{M}^-$ . If these tensors differ on each side of the boundary hypersurface  $\mathcal{N}$ , the jump  $[F] = F^+|_{\mathcal{N}} - F^-|_{\mathcal{N}}$ across  $\mathcal{N}$ , will not be zero and is an important quantity for our later derivations. Here, the subscript  $\mathcal{N}$  indicates that  $F^{\pm}$  should be evaluated on the hypersurface. We also define a hybrid tensor  $\tilde{F}$  as follows

$$\tilde{F}(x) = F^{+}\theta(\Phi) + F^{-}(1 - \theta(\Phi)), \qquad \theta(\Phi) = \begin{cases} 1 & \Phi > 0 \\ \frac{1}{2} & \Phi = 0 \\ 0 & \Phi < 0 \end{cases}$$
(2)

where  $\theta(\Phi)$  is the Heaviside step function. We will assume we are dealing with a continuous metric across  $\mathcal{N}$ , so

$$\tilde{g}_{\mu\nu} = g_{\mu\nu} \quad \text{and} \quad [g_{\mu\nu}] = 0.$$
(3)

The metric is also continuous in the derivatives tangent to the hypersurface, but is discontinuous in the transversal derivative. We introduce symmetric tensor  $\gamma_{\mu\nu}$  to describe the discontinuity in transversal derivative

$$[\partial_{\alpha}g_{\mu\nu}] = \eta n_{\alpha}\gamma_{\mu\nu}.\tag{4}$$

As  $n_{\alpha}$  is a null vector, to find the components of  $\gamma_{\mu\nu}$  we will need to introduce a transversal vector N, which points out of  $\mathcal{N}$ 

$$N \cdot n \equiv \eta^{-1} \neq 0, \qquad N^+_\mu = N^-_\nu \equiv N_\mu.$$
 (5)

So, it follows from (4) that

$$N^{\alpha}[\partial_{\alpha}g_{\mu\nu}] = \gamma_{\mu\nu}.$$
 (6)

We only restrict the choice of  $\gamma_{\mu\nu}$  by requiring it to have a uniquely defined projection on the hypersurface  $\mathcal{N}$ . Thus, we have the following gauge freedom:

$$\gamma_{\mu\nu} \to \gamma'_{\mu\nu} = \gamma_{\mu\nu} + v_{\mu}n_{\nu} + n_{\mu}v_{\nu}, \qquad (7)$$

where v is a four-dimensional vector field defined on  $\mathcal{N}$ . N is not uniquely defined as well. The scalar product (5) is invariant under the gauge transformation

$$N \to N' = N + v, \tag{8}$$

Our aim is to construct the Riemann and Einstein tensors for the space-time  $\mathcal{M}$ , which depend on partial derivatives of  $g_{\mu\nu}$ . For a partial derivative of some general  $\tilde{F}$  tensor field we can write

$$\partial_{\mu}\tilde{F} = \theta(\Phi)\partial_{\mu}F^{+} + F^{+}\partial_{\mu}\theta(\Phi) + (1 - \theta(\Phi))\partial_{\mu}F^{-} - F^{-}\partial_{\mu}\theta(\Phi)$$

$$= \partial_{\mu}\tilde{F} + [F]\partial_{\mu}\theta.$$
(9)

For the derivative of the Heaviside step function, we can write

$$\partial_{\mu}\theta(\Phi) = \partial_{\Phi}\theta(\Phi)\partial_{\mu}\Phi = \delta(\Phi)\chi n_{\mu},$$

so equation (9) becomes

$$\partial_{\mu}\tilde{F} = \partial_{\mu}\tilde{F} + [F]\chi n_{\mu}\delta(\Phi).$$
<sup>(10)</sup>

In addition, we should also note that if we have two F and G tensors defined, then from (2) it follows that

$$\tilde{F}\tilde{G} = \tilde{F}G - [F][G]\,\theta(\Phi)\,\theta(-\Phi).$$

To derive the form of Einstein's tensor we need to start from the Christoffel symbols. Using (3) and (10) we can obtain

$$\partial_{\rho}\tilde{g}_{\mu\nu} = \partial_{\rho}\tilde{g}_{\mu\nu},\tag{11}$$

from which it follows that

$$\Gamma^{\lambda}_{\mu\nu} = \frac{1}{2} g^{\lambda\rho} [\partial_{\mu} \tilde{g}_{\rho\nu} + \partial_{\nu} \tilde{g}_{\rho\mu} - \partial_{\rho} \tilde{g}_{\mu\nu}] 
= \frac{1}{2} g^{\lambda\rho} [\partial_{\mu} \tilde{g}_{\rho\nu} + \partial_{\nu} \tilde{g}_{\rho\mu} - \partial_{\rho} \tilde{g}_{\mu\nu}] 
= \tilde{\Gamma}^{\lambda}_{\mu\nu}$$
(12)

For  $[\Gamma^{\lambda}_{\mu\nu}]$  we will get

$$\begin{bmatrix} \Gamma^{\lambda}_{\mu\nu} \end{bmatrix} = \frac{1}{2} g^{\lambda\rho} ([\partial_{\mu}g_{\rho\nu}] + [\partial_{\nu}g_{\rho\mu}] - [\partial_{\rho}g_{\mu\nu}]) = \frac{1}{2} g^{\lambda\rho} (\eta n_{\mu}\gamma_{\rho\nu} + \eta n_{\nu}\gamma_{\rho\mu} - \eta n_{\rho}\gamma_{\mu\nu}) = \eta \left( \gamma^{\lambda}_{(\mu}n_{\nu)} - \frac{1}{2}\gamma_{\mu\nu}n^{\lambda} \right)$$
(13)

The brackets around indices denote symmetrization over those indices.

Now we can calculate the Riemann tensor. The Riemann tensor is expressed through Christoffel symbols according to the following equation.

$$R_{k\lambda\mu\nu} = \partial_{\mu}\tilde{\Gamma}_{k\lambda\nu} - \partial_{\nu}\tilde{\Gamma}_{k\lambda\mu} + \tilde{\Gamma}_{k\mu\rho}\tilde{\Gamma}^{\rho}_{\nu\lambda} - \tilde{\Gamma}_{k\nu\rho}\tilde{\Gamma}^{\rho}_{\mu\lambda}$$
(14)

The tilded Riemann tensor will be

$$\tilde{R}_{k\lambda\mu\nu} = \partial_{\mu}\tilde{\Gamma}_{k\lambda\nu} - \partial_{\nu}\tilde{\Gamma}_{k\lambda\mu} + \Gamma_{k\mu\rho}\tilde{\Gamma}_{\nu\lambda}^{\rho} - \Gamma_{k\nu\rho}\tilde{\Gamma}_{\rho\mu\lambda}^{\rho}$$
(15)

From (10) we can deduce that

$$\partial_{\mu} \tilde{\Gamma}_{k\lambda\nu} = \partial_{\mu} \tilde{\Gamma}_{k\lambda\nu} - [\Gamma_{k\lambda\nu}] \chi n_{\mu} \delta(\Phi).$$

So, plugging this into the tilded Riemann equation we find

$$\tilde{R}_{k\lambda\mu\nu} = \partial_{\mu}\tilde{\Gamma}_{k\lambda\nu} - \partial_{\nu}\tilde{\Gamma}_{k\lambda\mu} + \tilde{\Gamma}_{k\mu\rho}\tilde{\Gamma}_{\rho\nu\lambda} - \tilde{\Gamma}_{k\nu\rho}\tilde{\Gamma}_{\rho\mu\lambda} - [\Gamma_{k\lambda\nu}]\chi n_{\mu}\delta(\Phi) + [\Gamma_{k\lambda\mu}]\chi n_{\nu}\delta(\Phi) = R_{k\lambda\mu\nu} - [\Gamma_{k\lambda\nu}]\chi n_{\mu}\delta(\Phi) + [\Gamma_{k\lambda\mu}]\chi n_{\nu}\delta(\Phi),$$
(16)

where terms that vanish distributionally have been ignored.

The last two terms in tilde-Riemann equation can be simplified.

$$\begin{split} \left[\Gamma_{k\lambda\mu}\right]\chi n_{\nu}\delta(\Phi) &- \left[\Gamma_{k\lambda\nu}\right]\chi n_{\mu}\delta(\Phi) \\ &= \eta\chi\delta(\Phi)[\gamma_{k(\lambda}n_{\mu)}n_{\nu} - \frac{1}{2}\gamma_{\lambda\mu}n_{k}n_{\nu} - \gamma_{k(\lambda}n_{\nu)}n_{\mu} + \frac{1}{2}\gamma_{\lambda\nu}n_{k}n_{\mu}] \\ &= -\eta\chi\delta(\Phi)\hat{R}_{k\lambda\mu\nu}, \end{split}$$

where

$$\hat{R}_{k\lambda\mu\nu} \equiv \gamma_{k(\lambda}n_{\mu)}n_{\nu} - \frac{1}{2}\gamma_{\lambda\mu}n_{k}n_{\nu} - \gamma_{k(\lambda}n_{\nu)}n_{\mu} + \frac{1}{2}\gamma_{\lambda\nu}n_{k}n_{\mu}$$
$$= 2n_{[k}\gamma_{\lambda][\mu}n_{\nu]}$$

and square brackets around indices denote skew-symmetrization. Plugging this result into (16) will give

$$R_{k\lambda\mu\nu} = \tilde{R}_{k\lambda\mu\nu} + \hat{R}_{k\lambda\mu\nu}\eta\chi\delta(\Phi)$$
(17)

Similarly we find

$$R_{\mu\nu} = \tilde{R}_{\mu\nu} + \hat{R}_{\mu\nu}\epsilon\chi\delta(\Phi), \qquad \hat{R}_{\mu\nu} = \gamma_{(\mu}n_{\nu)} - \frac{\gamma}{2}n_{\mu}n_{\nu}, \qquad (18)$$

$$G_{\mu\nu} = \tilde{G}_{\mu\nu} + \hat{G}_{\mu\nu}\epsilon\chi\delta(\Phi), \qquad \hat{G}_{\mu\nu} = \gamma_{(\mu}n_{\nu)} - \frac{\gamma}{2}n_{\mu}n_{\nu} - \frac{\gamma^{\dagger}}{2}g_{\mu\nu}, \qquad (19)$$

where

$$\gamma \equiv g^{\mu\nu}\gamma_{\mu\nu}, \qquad \gamma_{\mu} \equiv \gamma_{\mu\nu}n^{\nu}, \qquad \gamma^{\dagger} \equiv \gamma_{\mu\nu}n^{\mu}n^{\nu} = \gamma_{\mu}n^{\mu}$$
(20)

From the form of the Einstein tensor we conclude that the stress-energy tensor will contain two terms one of which proportional to the Dirac  $\delta$ -function.

$$T_{\mu\nu} = \tilde{T}_{\mu\nu} + S_{\mu\nu}\eta\chi\delta(\Phi).$$
(21)

The tilde-term of the stress-energy tensor corresponds to the matter content  $T^{\pm}_{\mu\nu}$  of the exterior domains  $\mathcal{M}^{\pm}$ . The second term corresponds to the matter in the singular hypersurface, which is actually a shell of lightlike matter. The stress-energy tensor on the null shell is

$$T_{\mu\nu}|_{\mathcal{N}} = S_{\mu\nu}\eta\chi\delta(\Phi)$$

where  $S_{\mu\nu}$  is given by

$$16\pi S_{\mu\nu} = -\gamma n_{\mu} n_{\nu} - \gamma^{\dagger} g_{\mu\nu} + 2\gamma_{(\mu} n_{\nu)} = 2\hat{G}_{\mu\nu}.$$
(22)

The three terms in the stress-energy tensor in the last equation, if taken on the hypersurface  $\mathcal{N}$ , can be interpreted as being related to the energy density, the isotropic tensor and the energy current respectively.

#### 2.2 B-MEMORY AS GRAVITATIONAL MEMORY

The gravitational memory effect is the change in relative velocity between neighboring geodesics after the passing of a gravitational wave - the idea being that the passing of a gravitational wave leaves some "memory" in the relative movement of inertial observers. Here we propose a more covariant characterization of this memory effect by considering the effect of an outgoing wave in the form of a null shell on a null geodesic congruence.

To see explicitly how this works we begin with the general construction and notation of [23]. The impulsive wave (null shell) is confined to a singular null hypersurface  $\mathcal{N}$  which divides the space-time into two domains  $\mathcal{M}^- \bigcup \mathcal{M}^+$  - the past and future domains - each with its own coordinate system  $x^{\mu}_{\pm}$ . Each domain has its own metric,  $g^{-}_{\mu\nu}$  or  $g^{+}_{\mu\nu}$ , together with junction conditions for soldering that relate the two metrics where they meet on the hypersurface  $\mathcal{N}$ . The soldering determines the constituents of the impulsive wave and in the case that  $\mathcal{N}$  coincides with a killing horizon an infinite variety of solderings are allowed [23] producing an infinite variety of impulsive signals. For explicit calculations we will use the freedom to perform independent coordinate transformations on  $\mathcal{M}^-$  and  $\mathcal{M}^+$  to choose a global coordinate system  $x^{\mu}$  that is continuous across  $\mathcal{N}$  and such that the metric is also continuous

$$[g_{\mu\nu}] = g^+_{\mu\nu} - g^-_{\mu\nu} = 0.$$
<sup>(23)</sup>

In these global coordinates the hypersurface  $\mathcal{N}$  is defined by the equation  $\Phi(x) = 0$  with  $\Phi(x) > 0$  covering the future domain and  $\Phi(x) < 0$  covering the past domain.

We will consider a congruence with tangent vector field T transverse to  $\mathcal{N}$  together with the null generator n of the shell, where  $T \cdot n = -1$ , and to calculate the independent components of the  $\mathcal{B}$ -tensor  $\mathcal{B}_{\alpha\beta} = \nabla_{\beta}T_{\alpha}$  [32] we will project it onto the spatial submanifold of the shell defined by a pair of space-like orthonormal vectors  $e_A^{\alpha}$ ,  $A \in (x, y)$  such that  $e_A \cdot n = e_A \cdot T = 0$ . Furthermore we can and will choose  $e_A^{\alpha}$  to be parallel transported along the congruence, a choice that simplifies the following equations by eliminating the connection from the evolution equation for  $\mathcal{B}$ . The projection of  $\mathcal{B}_{\alpha\beta}$  onto the congruence is

$$\mathcal{B}_{AB} = e^{\alpha}_{A} e^{\beta}_{B} \mathcal{B}_{\alpha\beta} = \frac{1}{2} \theta \delta_{AB} + \sigma_{AB} + \omega_{AB}, \qquad (24)$$

where the expansion, shear and rotation are explicitly given by

$$\theta = \mathcal{B}_A^A \qquad \sigma_{AB} = \mathcal{B}_{(AB)} - \frac{1}{2}\theta\delta_{AB} \qquad \omega_{AB} = \mathcal{B}_{[AB]}.$$
(25)

The evolution equation for  $\mathcal{B}_{AB}$  (with respect to the affine parameter  $\lambda$  of the congruence) is

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}\mathcal{B}_{AB}}{\mathrm{d}\lambda} = -\mathcal{B}_{AC}\mathcal{B}_{B}^{C} - R_{AB} \tag{26}$$

and

$$R_{AB} = R_{\alpha\mu\beta\nu}e^{\alpha}_{A}T^{\mu}e^{\beta}_{B}T^{\nu} = \frac{1}{2}\mathcal{R}\delta_{AB} + C_{AB}$$
(27)

where

$$\mathcal{R} = R_{\alpha\beta}T^{\alpha}T^{\beta} \qquad C_{AB} = C_{\alpha\mu\beta\nu}e^{\alpha}_{A}T^{\mu}e^{\beta}_{B}T^{\nu}$$
(28)

and  $C_{AB}$  is traceless.

In the presence of a null shell the Riemann and Weyl tensors have a term that is localised on the shell and proportional to a delta function [22]. Thus we separate  $\mathcal{R}$  and  $C_{AB}$  into their bulk and shell components

$$\mathcal{R} = \hat{\mathcal{R}} + \bar{\mathcal{R}}\delta(\Phi) \qquad C_{AB} = \hat{C}_{AB} + \bar{C}_{AB}\delta(\Phi), \tag{29}$$

In the evolution equation for  $\mathcal{B}_{AB}$  the delta function in  $R_{AB}$  on the right hand side can only be balanced by a delta function in the derivative of  $\mathcal{B}_{AB}$  meaning that the  $\mathcal{B}$ -tensor must be discontinuous across the shell. This discontinuity is related to the stress-energy and gravitational wave components of the shell as we will see in detail in the following sections.

The evolution of the rotation is simply given by

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}\omega_{AB}}{\mathrm{d}\lambda} = -\theta\omega_{AB},\tag{30}$$

which can be integrated to give

$$\omega_{AB} = K e^{-\int_{\lambda_0}^{\lambda} \theta d\lambda'} \epsilon_{AB}.$$
(31)

We can deduce from this equation that the rotation must be continuous but not necessarily differentiable across the shell as the expansion is at most discontinuous. In particular, and as we will see in detail in the following sections, a zero rotation before the shell and at worst a finite jump in the expansion will result in zero rotation after the shell. This means that a congruence that is hypersurface orthogonal to the past of the shell must also be hypersurface orthogonal to the future of the shell.

Our calculations thus indicate that an alternative and generally covariant formulation of the gravitational memory effect is that there is a discontinuity in the  $\mathcal{B}$ -tensor of a congruence upon crossing a null shell. In the following sections we will show how to explicitly calculate the evolution of the  $\mathcal{B}$ -tensor for a congruence that crosses a null shell.

#### 2.3 THE SETUP AND PROPOSAL

Our general construction is applicable to any null shell located on a killing horizon. For simplicity (and without loss of conceptual insight) we will consider in the following sections exclusively the case of a planar null hypersurface (which is obviously a killing horizon) in Minkowski space.



Figure 1: In continuous coordinates the geodesic vector field is continuous across  $\mathcal{N}$ . Here we see that the transformed vector field to the past of  $\mathcal{N}$  provides the initial conditions for the field to the future and thus the full solution to the geodesic equation.

To study the evolution of a null geodesic congruence upon crossing a null shell we start directly from the geodesic equation. In continuous coordinates by definition the metric is continuous across  $\mathcal{N}$  while the Christoffel symbols are discontinuous, and the Riemann tensor has a delta function singularity localised on the shell, these properties being directly related to the stress-energy tensor of the shell and explained in detail in [23]. For the purposes of our calculations we will obtain continuous coordinates across the shell by performing a coordinate transformation on  $\mathcal{M}^-$  while leaving  $\mathcal{M}^+$  in flat coordinates.

The geodesic equation in the vicinity of the shell is

$$\ddot{X}^{\mu} + (\Theta(-\Phi)\Gamma_{\nu\lambda}^{-\mu} + \Theta(\Phi)\Gamma_{\nu\lambda}^{+\mu})\dot{X}^{\nu}\dot{X}^{\lambda} = 0$$
(32)



Figure 2: With flat coordinates to the past and future the soldering transformation leads to a discontinuity across  $\mathcal{N}$  in both coordinates and in the geodesic congruence.

where  $\Theta$  is the Heaviside step function. It is clear that non-trivial solutions to this equation may have a discontinuity in the acceleration, but not in the tangent vector  $T = \dot{X}$ , and thus the geodesic flow lines are  $C^1$  across the shell as shown in figure 1. Mathematically speaking this means that the geodesic vector on the shell  $(T_0)$  is uniquely defined  $T_0 = T_{\pm}|_{\mathcal{N}}$ . Taking this into account we state that if the test particle has approached the hypersurface from the past then the action of crossing the hypersurface is mathematically equivalent to making a coordinate transformation on the geodesic vector from the past flat coordinates, where for the purposes of our calculations we consider a trivial constant and parallel null congruence, to the continuous coordinate system. This transformed congruence then forms the initial conditions for the congruence to the future of the hypersurface.

$$T^{\alpha}_{+}\big|_{\mathcal{N}} = \left. \left( \frac{\partial x^{\alpha}_{+}}{\partial x^{\beta}_{-}} T^{\beta}_{-} \right) \right|_{\mathcal{N}}$$
(33)

Here  $T_{-}^{\alpha}$  is the geodesic vector of the test particle in the past domain in past flat coordinates and  $T_{+}^{\alpha}$  is the corresponding vector after the particle crosses the shell in future coordinates as shown in both figures 1 and 2. Here we should recall that all the information regarding the stress-energy tensor on the shell, which also means the effect that the shell will have on the congruence, is fully encoded in the definition of the soldering conditions and thus in the Jacobian of the soldering transformation.

Note that the geodesics are straight lines in the future and the past in the corresponding coordinate systems and with affine parameters  $\lambda_{\pm}$  they are given by

$$x_{\pm}^{\alpha} = x_0^{\alpha} + \lambda_{\pm} T_{\pm}^{\alpha} \big|_{\mathcal{N}}.$$
(34)

There is a one parameter freedom in the choice of affine parameters

$$\lambda_{\pm} \to \alpha_{\pm}^{-1} \lambda_{\pm}, \qquad T_{\pm}^{\alpha} \Big|_{\mathcal{N}} \to \alpha_{\pm} T_{\pm}^{\alpha} \Big|_{\mathcal{N}},$$
(35)

and the continuity equation (33) establishes a one-to-one relation between  $\alpha_{-}$  and  $\alpha_{+}$ , thus fixing the affine parameter in the future we also fix the affine parameter in the past.

#### 2.4 NULL CONGRUENCES CROSSING HORIZON SHELLS

Applying the proposed algorithm of the previous section we consider the congruence  $T_{-} = \alpha \partial_{u_{-}}$ globally to the past of  $\mathcal{N}$  ( $\alpha$  will be fixed after fixing the affine parameter to the future, as discussed in the previous section) and perform on  $\mathcal{M}^{+}$  a coordinate transformation parametrised by  $F(x^{a})$  where a = v, x, y,

$$u_{-} = \frac{u}{F_{v}}, \qquad v_{-} = F + \frac{u}{2F_{v}}(F_{x}^{2} + F_{y}^{2}), \qquad x_{-} = x + \frac{uF_{x}}{F_{v}}, \qquad y_{-} = y + \frac{uF_{y}}{F_{v}}.$$
 (36)

We will refer to this transformation as a Newman-Unti soldering being the extension to a soldering of the Newman-Unti transformation  $v_{-} = F$ . This one sided soldering transformation creates a shell at the location of  $\mathcal{N}$  and the properties of the shell are encoded in the function  $F(x^{a})$  as described in detail in [23]. To the future of  $\mathcal{N}$  we have coordinates  $x_{+}^{\alpha} = x^{\alpha}$  and we



Figure 3: Every point to the future of  $\mathcal{N}$ , apart from caustic points, has a unique mapping onto  $\mathcal{N}$  obtained by following the geodesic of the congruence in  $\mathcal{M}^+$  that passes through that point back to  $\mathcal{N}$ .

identify the future and past coordinates on  $\mathcal{N}$ . After the transformation the metric to the past of the shell is

$$ds_{-}^{2} = -2\mathrm{d}u\mathrm{d}v + dx^{2} + dy^{2} + u\left(\frac{2}{F_{v}}F_{ab}dx^{a}dx^{b}\right) + \frac{u^{2}}{F_{v}^{2}}\left(F_{xa}F_{xb} + F_{ya}F_{yb}\right)dx^{a}dx^{b},\qquad(37)$$

while to the future it remains

$$ds_{+}^{2} = -2dudv + dx^{2} + dy^{2}.$$
(38)

We are interested in the value of the congruence  $T_0$  on  $\mathcal{N}$  in continuous coordinates,

$$T_0^{\alpha} = \frac{\partial x^{\alpha}}{\partial x_-^{\beta}} T_-^{\beta} \big|_{\mathcal{N}}$$
(39)

Inverting the Jacobian matrix of the coordinate transformation evaluated on  $\mathcal{N}$  we find, for our choice of  $T_{-}$ , that

$$T_0(x_0^a) = \alpha \left( F_v \partial_u + \frac{1}{2F_v} (F_x^2 + F_y^2) \partial_v - F_x \partial_x - F_y \partial_y \right) \Big|_{\mathcal{N}}$$
(40)

The null congruences to the future of  $\mathcal{N}$  are labeled by the point  $(x_0^a)$  at which they cross  $\mathcal{N}$  and the affine parameter u. Taking  $T_0$  as the initial condition for the congruence on  $\mathcal{N}$  at  $u = u_0 = 0$  we find that the null congruence to the future is described by the lines

$$x^{\alpha} = x_0^{\alpha} + u T_0^{\alpha}(x_0^{a}) \tag{41}$$

and from the u component of this equation we find that

$$\alpha = 1/F_v. \tag{42}$$

The remaining components of (41) can in principal be inverted (in practice there will be unavoidable problems of caustics meaning that the inversion from some future points will not be well defined - we will ignore these subtleties), to obtain a projection along geodesic lines from  $\mathcal{M}^+$  to  $\mathcal{N}$  of the form  $x_0^a = x_0^a(x^\alpha)$  as illustrated in figure 3. The congruence to the future is then simply  $T^\alpha(x^\mu) = T_0^\alpha(x_0^a(x^\mu))$ . In the following, by a slight abuse of notation, we will use F to denote the extension of the soldering transformation F to the future such that  $F(x^\alpha) = F(x_0^a(x^\alpha))$ . A simple and useful consequence of this construction, that one can show with the help of the a components of (41), is

$$\frac{\partial F}{\partial x^a} = \frac{\partial F}{\partial x_0^a},\tag{43}$$

With a little further work one can show that the congruence to the future of the shell is given by

$$T^{\mu} = -\frac{1}{F_v} \eta^{\mu\nu} \partial_{\nu} F(x_0^a(x^{\alpha})), \qquad (44)$$

and is thus hypersurface orthogonal as anticipated at the end of Section 2.2.

#### 2.5 HOW THE SHELL MODIFIES THE CONGRUENCE.

We now turn to the projection of the B-tensor and its behaviour upon crossing the shell as described in **Section 2.2**. A natural choice for completing the tetrad along the congruence is

$$e_A = -\frac{F_A}{F_v}\partial_v + \partial_A \tag{45}$$

together with  $n = \partial_v$  and the tangent vector T. We will also need the completeness relation

$$e^{\alpha}_{A}e^{\beta}_{B}\delta^{AB} = \eta^{\alpha\beta} + n^{\alpha}T^{\beta} + n^{\beta}T^{\alpha}.$$
(46)

As already discussed a null shell produces a delta function singularity in the Riemann tensor and the physical content of the shell is encoded in the jump in the orthogonal derivatives of the metric tensor

$$\gamma_{ab} = T^{\alpha}[\partial_{\alpha}g_{ab}] = -2\frac{F_{ab}}{F_v}|_{\mathcal{N}} \qquad \gamma_{u\alpha} = 0.$$
(47)

The shell in general contains matter with stress-energy tensor

$$S_{\alpha\beta} = \mu n_{\alpha} n_{\beta} + p g_{\alpha\beta} + 2j_{(\alpha} n_{\beta)} \tag{48}$$

with  $j_{\alpha} = (0, j_a)$ . The four independent components of the stress energy tensor are the energy density  $\mu$ , and the surface current  $j_a$ , the v component of which is minus the pressure p

$$\mu = -\frac{1}{16\pi}\gamma_{\alpha\beta}\eta^{\alpha\beta} \qquad j_a = \frac{1}{16\pi}\gamma_{a\beta}n^{\beta} \qquad p = -j_v = -\frac{1}{16\pi}\gamma_{\alpha\beta}n^{\alpha}n^{\beta}.$$
 (49)

These account for four out of the six independent components of  $\gamma_{\alpha\beta}$ , the remaining two coming from the spatial (x, y) part of  $\hat{\gamma}_{\alpha\beta}$ 

$$\hat{\gamma}_{\alpha\beta} = \gamma_{\alpha\beta} - \frac{1}{2} \gamma_{\delta\kappa} \eta^{\delta\kappa} \eta_{\alpha\beta} \tag{50}$$

which contribute to the Weyl tensor and encode the two polarisations of an impulsive gravitational wave on the shell. We will see in detail how this works below.

To study the behaviour of a null congruence crossing the null shell we need to calculate  $R_{AB}$ and it is straightforward to show that

$$\bar{R}_{AB} = -\frac{1}{2}\gamma_{\alpha\beta}e^{\alpha}_{A}e^{\beta}_{B} = -\frac{1}{2}\gamma_{AB}.$$
(51)

Given the Einstein equation

$$R_{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2}g_{\mu\nu}R = 8\pi S_{\mu\nu}\delta(u)$$
 (52)

we can relate the trace of  $\bar{R}_{AB}$  to the surface quantities

$$\bar{\mathcal{R}} = 8\pi S_{\mu\nu} T^{\mu} T^{\nu} = 8\pi \mu - 16\pi j_a T^a,$$
(53)

while the projection of the Weyl tensor on the congruence is

$$\bar{C}_{AB} = -\frac{1}{2}\gamma_{AB} + \frac{1}{4}\gamma_C^C \delta_{AB} = -\frac{1}{2}\hat{\gamma}_{\alpha\beta}e_A^{\alpha}e_B^{\beta} + 16\pi j_a T^a \delta_{AB}.$$
(54)

#### 2.5.1 NEWMAN-UNTI SOLDERING TRANSFORMATIONS

Taking the explicit form for  $T^{\mu}$  from the previous section we find for a general Newman-Untitype transformation that

$$\mathcal{B}_{AB} = e^{\alpha}_{A} e^{\beta}_{B} \mathcal{B}_{\alpha\beta} = -\frac{F_{AB}}{F_{v}} - F_{A} F_{B} \frac{F_{vv}}{F_{v}^{3}} + \frac{(F_{A} F_{Bv} + F_{B} F_{Av})}{F_{v}^{2}}.$$
(55)

Evaluating  $\mathcal{B}_{AB}$  on the shell gives us directly its discontinuity given that we have taken a congruence with  $\mathcal{B}_{AB} = 0$  before the shell. In this expression we must take care to recall that although  $\partial_{a0}F = \partial_aF$  second derivatives must include the Jacobian of the mapping  $x_0^a(x^{\alpha})$ . We see that  $\mathcal{B}_{AB}$  is symmetric and thus the congruence has zero rotation consistent with the hypersurface orthogonality demonstrated in the previous section and also the more general arguments of **Section 2.2**.

Evaluating explicitly  $\bar{\mathcal{R}}$  and  $\bar{C}_{AB}$  and comparing to (55) we find that the change in expansion upon crossing the shell

$$\theta|_{\mathcal{N}} = -\bar{\mathcal{R}} = -8\pi\mu + 16\pi j_a T^a \tag{56}$$

is determined by a combination of the shell energy density and surface currents while the change

in the shear

$$\sigma_{AB}|_{\mathcal{N}} = -\bar{C}_{AB} = \frac{1}{2}\hat{\gamma}_{\alpha\beta}e^{\alpha}_{A}e^{\beta}_{B} - 16\pi j_{a}T^{a}\delta_{AB}$$
(57)

is determined by the gravitational wave component and surface current of the shell.

#### 2.5.2 BMS SOLDERING

To explicitly evaluate  $\mathcal{B}_{AB}$  (55) also to the future of the shell we need to invert equations (41) as discussed in the previous section. We will simplify the following calculations by just considering the special case of BMS supertranslation solderings and thus we take

$$F(v, x, y) = v + f(x, y).$$
 (58)

Then

$$T_{\alpha} = -\partial_{\alpha}F = \left(-\frac{1}{2}(f_x^2 + f_y^2), -1, -f_x, -f_y\right)$$
(59)

and

$$\mathcal{B}_{AB} = -\partial_B f_A = -\frac{\partial x_0^C}{\partial x^B} \frac{\partial f_A}{\partial x_0^C}.$$
(60)

In this case we need only the Jacobian of the transformation on spatial coordinates that we obtain by taking derivatives of the x, y components of (41) with respect to  $x_A = (x, y)$  to obtain

$$\delta_A^B = \frac{\partial x_0^C}{\partial x^A} (\delta_C^B - u f_{BC}) \tag{61}$$

and inverting we find the Jacobian of the transformation

$$\left(\frac{\partial x_0^B}{\partial x^A}\right) = \frac{1}{1 - u \mathrm{tr}(f) + u^2 \mathrm{det}(f)} \begin{pmatrix} 1 - u f_{yy} & u f_{xy} \\ u f_{xy} & 1 - u f_{xx} \end{pmatrix},\tag{62}$$

where  $tr(f) = f_{xx} + f_{yy}$  and  $det(f) = f_{xx}f_{yy} - f_{xy}^2$ . Thus

$$\mathcal{B} = \frac{-1}{1 - u \operatorname{tr}(f) + u^2 \operatorname{det}(f)} \begin{pmatrix} f_{xx} - u \operatorname{det}(f) & f_{xy} \\ f_{xy} & f_{yy} - u \operatorname{det}(f) \end{pmatrix}$$
(63)

corresponding to the expansion

$$\theta = \frac{-\mathrm{tr}(f) + 2u \det(f)}{1 - u\mathrm{tr}(f) + u^2 \det(f)}$$
(64)

and shear

$$\sigma = \frac{-1}{2(1 - u \operatorname{tr}(f) + u^2 \operatorname{det}(f))} \begin{pmatrix} f_{xx} - f_{yy} & f_{xy} \\ f_{xy} & -f_{xx} + f_{yy} \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (65)

Evaluating

$$\bar{\mathcal{R}} = f_{xx} + f_{yy} = 8\pi\mu \qquad \bar{C} = \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} f_{xx} - f_{yy} & 2f_{xy} \\ 2f_{xy} & -f_{xx} + f_{yy} \end{pmatrix} = -\frac{1}{2}\hat{\gamma}$$
(66)

it is easy to check that our solutions for expansion and shear on and to the future of  $\mathcal{N}$  satisfy the evolution equations

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}\theta}{\mathrm{d}u} = -\frac{1}{2}\theta^2 - 2(\sigma_+^2 + \sigma_\times^2) - 8\pi\mu\delta(u) \qquad \text{and} \qquad \frac{\mathrm{d}\sigma}{\mathrm{d}u} = -\theta\sigma + \frac{1}{2}\hat{\gamma}\delta(u). \tag{67}$$

We see in particular that for the BMS transformations the  $\mathcal{B}$ -memory effect corresponds to a jump in the expansion upon crossing the shell that is proportional to the energy density of the shell together with a change in the shear that is proportional to the gravitational wave component of the shell.

#### 2.6 DISCUSSION

We have presented a new approach for studying congruences that cross a singular hypersurface. Our method is based on the physically justified assumption that the geodesic vector of a test particle is continuous across the hypersurface when using continuous coordinates. To obtain the geodesic flow to the future of the hypersurface one simply needs to do a coordinate transformation on the past coordinates to go to a continuous coordinate system. The resulting transformation on the geodesic congruence in  $\mathcal{M}^-$  gives initial conditions on  $\mathcal{N}$  to develop the geodesic vector field on  $\mathcal{M}^+$  to the future.

We then proved that a parallel congruence upon crossing the shell gives rise to a hypersurface orthogonal congruence to the future of the shell, and in particular that the shell gives rise to a discontinuity in the  $\mathcal{B}$ -tensor of the congruence. In general the jump in the expansion is determined by the energy density and currents on the shell while the jump in the shear is determined by the gravitational wave component together with the surface currents. Although we derived these results using a particular congruence, it should be clear from (56) and (57) that the results are independent of the choice of congruence in the case of BMS supertranslations for which the surface currents are zero. We also provide a general argument that a hypersurface orthogonal congruence before the shell will give rise to a hypersurface orthogonal congruence to the future.

The change in the  $\mathcal{B}$ -tensor after the passage of an outgoing gravitational wave leads to a covariant description of the gravitational memory effect - the  $\mathcal{B}$ -memory effect. Although our construction and approach to gravitational memory appears to be quite distinct from that reviewed in [29] there are many intriguing similarities. They introduce a trace free "shear like" tensor  $\sigma_{ab} = \nabla_a \nabla_b f$  where f is the shift in a BMS supertranslation on  $\mathcal{I}$  and the Lie derivative along  $\mathcal{I}$  of  $\sigma_{ab}$  is the news tensor  $N_{ab}$ . The picture that emerges suggests that the outgoing null shell induces a BMS supertranslation on  $\mathcal{I}$  in the same way that a soft graviton is supposed to [28].

It would be very interesting to study the quantum version of this effect and the calculation of the eikonal wavefunction may be a first step in such an approach. In the eikonal picture the local wavefronts of a wavefunction follow the geodesics of the spacetime. The presence of an outgoing gravitational wave produces a radical reorganization of the congruence such that in general a flat wavefront can be distorted in a myriad of different ways. One may imagine that at a deeper level this distortion corresponds to a radical change in the quantum field theory vacuum that is constructed from plane wave states. It would be interesting in particular to investigate how the propagation across the shell of a good basis of wave-functions may not give rise to a reasonable basis to the future of the shell given that BMS transformations map between inequivalent quantum field theory vacuum states [29].

### CHAPTER 3

# INTEGRABILITY OF GEODESICS IN NEAR-HORIZON EXTREMAL MYERS-PERRY BLACK HOLES: SPECIAL CASES

Any dynamical system, particle or field dynamics alike, is classically described by equations of motion and some boundary conditions for the field theory case. The main task in analyzing the system is to solve the equations of motion, which are generically (partial) second order differential equations, and solving them is generically a formidable task. Symmetries, Noether theorem and constants of motion, are the usual tools facilitating tackling the problem. In this and the following chapter we will focus on particle dynamics on certain d dimensional curved backgrounds.

In a dynamical system with N degrees of freedom and hence a 2N dimensional phase space, if number of independent symmetries is equal to N, the system is called *integrable* and is usually solvable. If the system possesses N + p,  $1 \le p \le N - 1$ , independent symmetries (and hence functionally independent constants of motion), it is called *superintegrable* and the region it can probe in its 2N dimensional phase space is a compact N - p dimensional surface; e.g. see [34–36].

For the question of particle dynamics on a general curved (usually a black hole) background in d dimensions, we are dealing with a 2d dimensional phase space. It is an established fact that isometries of the background, the Killing vectors, provide a set of constants of motion. Moreover, reparametrization invariance of the particle action implies that there is always a second rank Killing-tensor whose conserved charge is the mass of particle. For backgrounds of interest, e.g. black holes or their near horizon geometries, usually the number of Killing vectors plus one is less than d and one may wonder if the system is integrable.

The question of integrability of particle dynamics on black hole or near horizon geometries have been extensively analyzed in the literature e.g. see [37–56]. In particular, it has been shown that the problem is (super)integrable for a large class of black holes. The integrability is often associated with the existence of higher rank, usually second rank, Killing tensor fields [37] (see [57] for review).

Given an extremal black hole there are general theorems stating that in the near horizon limit we obtain a usually smooth geometry with larger isometry group than the original extremal black hole [58]. It is hence an interesting question to explore if this symmetry enhancement yields further independent constants of motion and how it affects the (super)integrability of particle dynamics. This question, besides the academic interests, is also relevant to some of the observations related to black holes: It is now a well-accepted fact that there are fast rotating black holes in the sky which are well modeled by an extreme Kerr geometry [59] and the matter moving around these black holes in their accretion disks are essentially probing the near horizon geometry [60].

The isometry group of generic stationary extremal black holes in the near horizon region is shown to have an  $SO(2,1) = SL(2,\mathbb{R})$  part [58,61]. Therefore, particle dynamics on the near horizon extreme geometries possesses dynamical 0 + 1 dimensional conformal symmetry, i.e. it defines a "conformal mechanics" [38,40–49]. This allows to reduce the problem to the study of system depending on latitudinal and azimuthal coordinates and their conjugate momenta with the effective Hamiltonian being Casimir of conformal algebra. Such associated systems have been investigated from various viewpoints in Refs. [62–66] where they were called "angular (or spherical) mechanics".

In this work, we continue our analysis of [33, 77] and extend the analysis there to Near Horizon Extremal Myers-Perry [78] (NHEMP) black holes [61] in general odd and even dimensions. We discuss the separability of variables, constants of motion for "angular mechanics" associated with these systems and how they are related to the second rank Killing tensors of the background. While the system is in general integrable, as we show, there are special cases where the system is superintegrable. Moreover, we discuss another interesting case, the Extremal Vanishing Horizon (EVH) [79] Myer-Perry black holes [80] and show the integrability of geodesics in the Near Horizon EVH Myers-Perry (NHEVH-MP) geometries.

In Section 3.1 we present the geometry of near-horizon extremal Myers-Perry black holes in generic even and odd dimensions, and construct the "angular mechanics" describing probe particle dynamics. In this section we set our notations and conventions. In Section 3.3 we analyze generic causal curve, massive or massless geodesic, in the NHEMP background. We show that this Hamiltonian system is separable in ellipsoidal coordinate system, work out the constants of motion and establish that the system is integrable. Moreover, we show how the Killing vectors and second rank Killing tensors are related to these constants of motion. In Section 4.1 we analyze special cases where some of the rotation parameters of the background NHEMP are equal. In these cases we have some extra Killing vectors and tensors and the system is superintegrable. Section 4.2 contains the analysis of particle dynamics on the special class of Extremal Vanishing Horizon (EVH) Myers-Perry black holes. We end this note with discussions and further comments.

This chapter was based on the papers [73-75, 77]

#### 3.1 NHEMP IN ARBITRARY DIMENSIONS; UNIFIED DESCRIPTION

The NHEMP metric in both odd and even dimensions in the Gaussian null coordinates was presented in [61]. The NHEMP is a (generically) a smooth solution to vacuum Einstein equations in odd d = (2N+1)- and d = (2N+2)-dimensions, in general it is specified by N number of rotation parameters  $a_i$  (or N angular momenta  $J_i$ ) and has  $SL(2, \mathbb{R}) \times U(1)^N$  isometry. In Boyer-Lindquist coordinates NHEMP metric has the form

$$ds^{2} = \frac{F_{H}}{b} \left( -r^{2} d\tau^{2} + \frac{dr^{2}}{r^{2}} \right) + \sum_{I=1}^{N_{\sigma}} (r_{H}^{2} + a_{I}^{2}) d\mu_{I}^{2} + \gamma_{ij} D\varphi^{i} D\varphi^{j},$$
(68)

$$D\varphi^{i} \equiv d\varphi^{i} + \frac{B^{i}}{b}rd\tau, \tag{69}$$

where  $N_{\sigma} = \left[\frac{d}{2}\right] = N + \sigma$ , i.e.  $\sigma = 0$  for the odd and  $\sigma = 1$  for the even dimensions cases,  $r_H$  is a black hole radius which satisfy the equation

$$\sum_{I=1}^{N_{\sigma}} \frac{r_H^2}{r_H^2 + a_I^2} = \frac{1+2\sigma}{1+\sigma}, \quad \text{with} \quad a_{N+1} = 0$$
(70)

and,\*

$$F_H = 1 - \sum_{i=1}^{N} \frac{a_i^2 \mu_i^2}{r_H^2 + a_i^2}, \qquad B^i = \frac{2r_H a_i}{(r_H^2 + a_i^2)^2},$$
(71)

$$b = \frac{1}{r_H^2} \left( \sum_{i=1}^N \frac{\sigma r_H^2}{r_H^2 + a_i^2} + 4 \sum_{i(72)$$

$$\gamma_{ij} = (r_H^2 + a_i^2)\mu_i^2 \delta_{ij} + \frac{1}{F_H} a_i \mu_i^2 a_j \mu_j^2, \qquad \sum_{I=1}^{N_\sigma} \mu_I^2 = 1.$$
(73)

In our notations lowercase Latin indices i, j which run from 1 to N and uppercase Latin indices I, J which run over 1 to  $N_{\sigma}$  and  $r_{H}$  satisfies

<sup>\*</sup>There seems to be a minor typo in the excessions for NHEMP metrics given in [61], which we have corrected here.

For the case when all  $a_i$  take generic non-zero values<sup>†</sup> it is convenient to introduce new parameters  $m_i$ 

$$m_i = \frac{r_H^2 + a_i^2}{r_H^2} > 1, \qquad m_{N+1} = 1 \quad \text{and} \quad \sum_{I=1}^{N_\sigma} \frac{1}{m_I} = \frac{1+2\sigma}{1+\sigma},$$
 (74)

and re-scaled coordinates  $x_I$ ,

$$x_I = \sqrt{m_I} \mu_I$$
 :  $\sum_{I=1}^{N_\sigma} \frac{x_I^2}{m_I} = 1.$  (75)

In these terms the near-horizon metrics reads

$$\frac{ds^2}{r_H^2} = A(x) \left( -r^2 d\tau^2 + \frac{dr^2}{r^2} \right) + \sum_{I=1}^{N_\sigma} dx_I dx_I + \sum_{i,j=1}^N \tilde{\gamma}_{ij} x_i x_j D\varphi^i D\varphi^j,$$

$$D\varphi^i \equiv d\varphi^i + k^i r d\tau,$$
(76)

where

$$A(x) = \frac{\sum_{I=1}^{N_{\sigma}} x_{I}^{2} / m_{I}^{2}}{\frac{\sigma}{1+\sigma} + 4\sum_{i

$$k^{i} = \frac{2\sqrt{m_{i} - 1}}{m_{i}^{2} (\frac{\sigma}{1+\sigma} + 4\sum_{k
(77)$$$$

with

$$\sum_{I=1}^{N_{\sigma}} \frac{x_I^2}{m_I} = 1, \qquad \sum_{I=1}^{N_{\sigma}} \frac{1}{m_I} = \frac{1+2\sigma}{1+\sigma}.$$
(78)

With this unified description at hands we are ready to describe probe particle dynamics.

#### 3.2 PROBE-PARTICLE DYNAMICS

The metric (76) has  $SL(2,\mathbb{R})$  isometry group and hence the particle dynamics on this background exhibits dynamical conformal symmetry; we are dealing with a "conformal mechanics"

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>†</sup>The case when one of the  $a_i$  is zero is the EVH case we will discuss separately in **Section 4.2**.

problem [38,40–49]. Let us denote the three generators of this  $sl(2,\mathbb{R})$  algebra by H, D, K, and its Casimir by  $\mathcal{I}$ :

$$\{H, D\} = H, \quad \{H, K\} = 2D, \quad \{D, K\} = K, \qquad \mathcal{I} = HK - D^2.$$
 (79)

The mass-shell equation for a particle of mass  $m_0$  moving in the background metric

$$m_0^2 = -\sum_{A,B=1}^{2N+1+\sigma} g^{AB} p_A p_B,$$
(80)

leads to the following expression

$$m_0^2 r_H^2 = \frac{1}{A} \left[ \left( \frac{p_0}{r} - \sum_{i=1}^N k_i p_{\varphi_i} \right)^2 - (r p_r)^2 \right] - \sum_{a,b=1}^{N_\sigma - 1} h^{ab} p_a p_b - \sum_{i,j=1}^N \tilde{\gamma}^{ij} \frac{p_{\varphi_i}}{x_i} \frac{p_{\varphi_j}}{x_j}, \tag{81}$$

where

$$h^{ab} = \delta^{ab} - \frac{1}{\sum_{I=1}^{N_{\sigma}} x_{I}^{2}/m_{I}^{2}} \frac{x_{a}}{m_{a}} \frac{x_{b}}{m_{b}}, \qquad a, b = 1, \dots N_{\sigma} - 1,$$

$$\tilde{\gamma}^{ij} = \delta^{ij} - x_{i} \frac{\sqrt{m_{i} - 1}}{m_{i}} x_{j} \frac{\sqrt{m_{j} - 1}}{m_{j}}, \qquad i, j = 1, \dots, N.$$
(82)

Using (81), as in [33], we can construct the Hamiltonian  $H = p_0$  and the other generators of the conformal algebra

$$H = r \left( \sqrt{L(x_a, p_a, p_{\varphi_i}) + (rp_r)^2} + \sum_{i=1}^N k_i p_{\varphi_i} \right),$$
(83)

$$D = rp_r, \qquad K = \frac{1}{r} \left( \sqrt{L(x_a, p_a, p_{\varphi_i}) + (rp_r)^2} - \sum_{i=1}^N k_i p_{\varphi_i} \right), \tag{84}$$

where

$$L(x_a, p_a, p_{\varphi_i}) = A\left(m_0 r_H^2 + \sum_{a,b=1}^{N_\sigma - 1} h^{ab} p_a p_b + \sum_{i,j=1}^N \tilde{\gamma}^{ij} \frac{p_{\varphi_i}}{x_i} \frac{p_{\varphi_j}}{x_j}\right),$$

and the momenta  $p_a, p_{\varphi_i}, p_r$  are conjugate to  $x_a, \varphi_i, r$  with the canonical Poisson brackets

$$\{p_a, x_b\} = \delta_{ab}, \qquad \{p_{\varphi_i}, \varphi_j\} = \delta_{ij}, \qquad \{p_r, r\} = 1.$$
 (85)

Thus, the Casimir element of the conformal algebra reads

$$\mathcal{I} = A \left[ \sum_{a,b=1}^{N_{\sigma}-1} h^{ab} p_a p_b + \sum_{i=1}^{N} \frac{p_{\varphi_i}^2}{x_i^2} + g_0 \right] - \mathcal{I}_0$$
(86)
where

$$g_0 = -\left(\sum_{i=1}^N \frac{\sqrt{m_i - 1}p_{\varphi_i}}{m_i}\right)^2 + m_0^2 r_H^2, \qquad \mathcal{I}_0 = \left(\sum_i^N k_i p_{\varphi_i}\right)^2.$$
(87)

In an appropriately chosen frame H can be written in formally nonrelativistic form [40–49]

$$H = \frac{p_R^2}{2} + \frac{2\mathcal{I}}{R^2},\tag{88}$$

where  $R = \sqrt{2K}$ ,  $p_R = \frac{2D}{\sqrt{2K}}$  are the effective "radius" and its canonical conjugate "radial momentum". As we will show below the Casimir  $\mathcal{I}$  encodes all the essential information about the system of particle on these backgrounds. The Casimir  $\mathcal{I}$  (86) is at most quadratic in momenta canonically conjugate to the remaining angular variables and it can conveniently be viewed as the Hamiltonian of a reduced "angular/spherical mechanics" [62–66] describing motion of particle on some curved background. Note that the "time parameter" conjugate to  $\mathcal{I}$  is different than the time parameter  $\tau$  appeared in metric (76) whose conjugate variable is  $H = p_0$ . See [81] for more detailed discussions.

Since the azimuthal angular variables  $\varphi^i$  are cyclic, corresponding conjugate momenta  $p_{\varphi_i}$ are constants of motion. We then remain with a reduced  $(N_{\sigma}-1)$ -dimensional system described by Hamiltonian (86) and  $x_a$  variables and their conjugate momenta.

#### 3.3 FULLY NON-ISOTROPIC CASE

To show that the angular/spherical mechanics system is integrable, we show that it is separable in the ellipsoidal coordinates when we are dealing with cases where all parameters  $m_i$  are nonequal. The ellipsoidal coordinates  $\lambda_I$  for odd and even dimensions are then defined as

$$x_{I}^{2} = (m_{I} - \lambda_{I}) \prod_{J=1, J \neq I}^{N_{\sigma}} \frac{m_{I} - \lambda_{J}}{m_{I} - m_{J}}, \qquad \lambda_{N_{\sigma}} < m_{N_{\sigma}} < \dots < \lambda_{2} < m_{2} < \lambda_{1} < m_{1}.$$
(89)

To resolve the condition  $\sum_{I=1}^{N_{\sigma}} \frac{x_{I}^{2}}{m_{I}} = 1$  we choose  $\lambda_{N_{\sigma}} = 0$  and hence there are  $N_{\sigma} - 1$  independent  $\lambda_{I}$  variables, which will be denoted by  $\lambda_{a}$ .

In these coordinates the angular Hamiltonian  $\mathcal{I}$  (shifted by a constant and appropriately rescaled) reads

$$\tilde{\mathcal{I}} = \lambda_1 \dots \lambda_{N_{\sigma}-1} \left[ -\sum_{a}^{N_{\sigma}-1} \frac{4\prod_{I=1}^{N_{\sigma}} (m_I - \lambda_a) \pi_a^2}{\lambda_a \prod_{b=1, a \neq b}^{N_{\sigma}-1} (\lambda_b - \lambda_a)} + \sum_{i=1}^{N_{\sigma}} \frac{g_I^2}{\prod_{a=1}^{N_{\sigma}-1} (m_I - \lambda_a)} + g_0 \right], \quad (90)$$

where

$$\tilde{\mathcal{I}} \equiv (\mathcal{I} + \mathcal{I}_0) \left( \frac{\sigma}{1 + \sigma} + 4 \sum_{k < l}^N \frac{1}{m_k} \frac{1}{m_l} \right) \prod_{i=1}^N m_i, \qquad \mathcal{I}_0 = \left( \sum_i^N k_i p_{\varphi_i} \right)^2, \tag{91}$$

with

$$g_I^2 = \frac{p_{\varphi_I}^2}{m_I} \prod_{J=1, J \neq I}^{N_\sigma} (m_I - m_J), \qquad g_{N+1} = p_{\varphi_{N+1}} \equiv 0, \tag{92}$$

and  $\{\pi_a, \lambda_b\} = \delta_{ab}, \{p_{\varphi_i}, \varphi_j\} = \delta_{ij}.$ 

The level surface of angular Hamiltonian (90),  $\tilde{\mathcal{I}} = \mathcal{E}$ , can be conveniently represented through

$$\sum_{a=1}^{N_{\sigma}-1} \frac{R_a - \mathcal{E}}{\lambda_a \prod_{b=1, a \neq b}^{N_{\sigma}-1} (\lambda_b - \lambda_a)} = 0,$$
(93)

where<sup>‡</sup>

$$R_a \equiv -4 \prod_{I=1}^{N_{\sigma}} (m_I - \lambda_a) \pi_a^2 + (-1)^{N_{\sigma}} \sum_{I=1}^{N_{\sigma}} \frac{g_I^2 \lambda_a}{m_I - \lambda_a} - g_0 (-\lambda_a)^{N_{\sigma} - 1},$$
(94)

and we used the identities

$$\frac{1}{\prod_{a=1}^{N_{\sigma}-1} (\lambda_a - \kappa)} = \sum_{a=1}^{N_{\sigma}-1} \frac{1}{\prod_{b=1; a \neq b}^{N_{\sigma}-1} (\lambda_b - \lambda_a)} \frac{1}{\lambda_a - \kappa},$$

$$\frac{1}{\lambda_1 \dots \lambda_{N_{\sigma}-1}} = \sum_{a=1}^{N_{\sigma}-1} \frac{1}{\prod_{b=1; b \neq a}^{N_{\sigma}-1} (\lambda_b - \lambda_a)} \frac{1}{\lambda_a}.$$
(95)

<sup>‡</sup>Note that  $R_a\lambda_a \to R_a$  and  $\nu_a \to F_{a+1}$  replacements have been assumed in the current chapter compared to [33].

We can rewrite the expression (93) in more useful form, recalling the identities,

$$\sum_{a=1}^{N_{\sigma}-1} \frac{\lambda_a^{\alpha}}{\prod\limits_{\substack{b=1\\b\neq a}}^{N_{\sigma}-1} (\lambda_a - \lambda_b)} = \delta_{\alpha, N_{\sigma}-2} \qquad \alpha = 0, \dots, N_{\sigma}-2.$$
(96)

Multiplying both sides of (96) by arbitrary constants  $\nu_{\alpha}$  and adding to (93), we get

$$\sum_{a=1}^{N_{\sigma}-1} \frac{R_a(\pi,\lambda) - \sum_{c=1}^{N_{\sigma}-1} \nu_{c-1} \lambda_a^{c-1}}{\lambda_a \prod_{b=1, a \neq b}^{N_{\sigma}-1} (\lambda_b - \lambda_a)} = 0, \qquad \nu_0 = \mathcal{E}.$$
(97)

Equipped with the above we can solve the Hamilton-Jacobi equations

$$\mathcal{E}(\lambda_a, \frac{\partial S_{gen}}{\partial \lambda_a}) = \nu_0, \tag{98}$$

and obtain the generating function  $S_{gen}$  depending on  $N_{\sigma} - 1$  integration constants (i.e. the general solution of Hamilton-Jacobi equation). To this end we substitute in (97)

$$\pi_a = \frac{\partial S_{gen}}{\partial \lambda_a},\tag{99}$$

and choose the ansatz

$$S_{\text{gen}}(\lambda_1, \dots, \lambda_{N_{\sigma}-1}) = \sum_{a=1}^{N_{\sigma}-1} S(\lambda_a).$$
(100)

This reduces the Hamilton-Jacobi equation to a set of  $N_{\sigma} - 1$  ordinary differential equations

$$R\left(\lambda_a, \frac{dS(\lambda_a)}{d\lambda_a}\right) - \sum_{b=1}^{N_{\sigma}-1} \nu_{b-1} \lambda_a^{b-1} = 0, \qquad (101)$$

or in an explicit form,

$$-4\left(\frac{dS(\lambda_a)}{d\lambda_a}\right)^2 \prod_{I=1}^{N_{\sigma}} (m_I - \lambda_a) + (-1)^{N_{\sigma}} \sum_{I=1}^{N_{\sigma}} \frac{g_I^2 \lambda_a}{m_I - \lambda_a} - g_0(-\lambda_a)^{N_{\sigma}-1} - \sum_{b=1}^{N_{\sigma}-1} \nu_{b-1} \lambda_a^{b-1} = 0.$$
(102)

Hence, the analytic solution to the Hamilton-Jacobi equation is given through the generating function (100) with

$$S(\lambda,\nu_{a}) = \frac{1}{2} \frac{d\lambda}{\sqrt{\prod_{I=1}^{N_{\sigma}} (m_{I}-\lambda)}} \sqrt{(-1)^{N_{\sigma}} \left[ \sum_{I=1}^{N_{\sigma}} \frac{g_{I}^{2} m_{I}}{m_{I}-\lambda} + g_{0} \lambda^{N_{\sigma}-1} - \sum_{i=1}^{N} g_{i}^{2} \right]} - \sum_{b=1}^{N_{\sigma}-1} \nu_{b-1} \lambda^{b-1} .$$
(103)

Then, differentiating with respect to constants  $\nu_a$ , we can get the explicit solutions of the equations of motion

$$\tau = \frac{\partial S_{gen}}{\partial \nu_0} \equiv \frac{\partial S_{gen}}{\partial \mathcal{E}}, \qquad c_a = \frac{\partial S_{gen}}{\partial \nu_a}$$
(104)

To include the dynamics of azimuthal coordinates  $\varphi_i$  we have to consider the generating function  $S_{tot} = S_{gen} + \sum_{i=1}^{N} p_{\varphi_i} \varphi_i$ , where we take into account functional dependence of  $g_0, g_i$ from  $p_{\varphi_i}$ . This yields the solutions for azimuthal coordinates

$$\varphi_i = -\frac{\partial S_{gen}}{\partial p_{\varphi_i}}.$$
(105)

Thus, we get the solutions of the angular sector of generic NHEMP with non-equal nonvanishing rotational parameters.

#### 3.3.1 CONSTANTS OF MOTION

The expressions for commuting constants of motion  $F_a$  can be found from (101), by expressing constants  $\nu_a$  in terms of  $\lambda_a, \pi_a = \partial S_{gen} / \partial \lambda_a$ :

where  $R_a(\lambda_a, \pi_a)$  are given by (94). Integrals of motion are the solutions to this equation and may be expressed via the inverse Vandermonde matrix, explicitly,

$$F_{\alpha} = (-1)^{\alpha - 1} \sum_{a=1}^{N_{\sigma} - 1} R_{a} \frac{A_{N_{\sigma} - \alpha - 1}^{\neq a}}{\prod_{\substack{b=1\\b \neq a}}^{N_{\sigma} - 1} (\lambda_{b} - \lambda_{a})}, \quad \alpha = 1, ..., N_{\sigma} - 2,$$

$$F_{N_{\sigma} - 1} = \sum_{a=1}^{N_{\sigma} - 1} \frac{R_{a}}{\prod_{\substack{b=1\\b \neq a}}^{N_{\sigma} - 1} (\lambda_{a} - \lambda_{b})},$$
(107)

where

$$A_{\alpha}^{\neq a} \equiv \sum_{\substack{1 \le k_1 < \dots < k_{\alpha} \\ k_1, \dots, k_{\alpha} \neq a}}^{N_{\sigma} - 1} \lambda_{k_1} \dots \lambda_{k_{\alpha}}.$$
(108)

In the following subsection we will first derive the explicit forms of these first integrals in the initial  $x_a$ ,  $\varphi_i$  coordinates in seven, nine and eleven dimensions [77] and then generalize these results for arbitrary dimensions.

#### 3.3.2 CASES OF 7, 9 AND 11 DIMENSIONS

For the simplest case of N = 3, corresponding to seven-dimensional MP black hole, we have two integrals of motion given by (107):

$$F_1 = \widetilde{\mathcal{I}} = \frac{\lambda_1 R_2 - \lambda_2 R_1}{\lambda_1 - \lambda_2}, \qquad F_2 = \frac{R_1 - R_2}{\lambda_1 - \lambda_2}$$
(109)

Using the expression

$$\pi_a = -\frac{1}{2} \sum_{b=1}^{N-1} \frac{p_b}{x_b} \frac{\prod_{\substack{i=1\\i\neq a}}^{N} (m_b - \lambda_i)}{\prod_{\substack{i=1\\i\neq b}}^{N} (m_b - m_i)} = -\frac{1}{2} \sum_{b=1}^{N-1} \frac{p_b x_b}{m_b - \lambda_a}$$
(110)

one can explicitly calculate  $F_2 = F_{N-1}$ , which is valid for any N §

$$F_{N-1} = \left(\sum_{a=1}^{N-1} p_a x_a\right)^2 - \sum_{a=1}^{N-1} p_a^2 m_a - \sum_{i=1}^N \frac{m_i p_{\varphi_i}^2}{x_i^2} + g_0 \sum_{i=1}^N x_i^2 .$$
(111)

In the case of N = 4 we will obtain all three integrals of motion from the equation (107):

$$F_{1} = \widetilde{\mathcal{I}} = \frac{1}{D} \bigg( R_{1}\lambda_{2}\lambda_{3}(\lambda_{3} - \lambda_{2}) - R_{2}\lambda_{1}\lambda_{3}(\lambda_{3} - \lambda_{1}) + R_{3}\lambda_{1}\lambda_{2}(\lambda_{2} - \lambda_{1}) \bigg),$$

$$F_{2} = \frac{1}{D} \bigg( R_{1}(\lambda_{2}^{2} - \lambda_{3}^{2}) + R_{2}(\lambda_{3}^{2} - \lambda_{1}^{2}) + R_{3}(\lambda_{1}^{2} - \lambda_{2}^{2}) \bigg),$$

$$F_{3} = \frac{1}{D} \bigg( R_{1}(\lambda_{3} - \lambda_{2}) + R_{2}(\lambda_{1} - \lambda_{3}) + R_{3}(\lambda_{2} - \lambda_{1}) \bigg),$$
(112)

where

$$D = \lambda_2 \lambda_3 (\lambda_3 - \lambda_2) - \lambda_1 \lambda_3 (\lambda_3 - \lambda_1) + \lambda_1 \lambda_2 (\lambda_2 - \lambda_1)$$

Constants of motion  $F_1$  and  $F_3$  in Cartesian coordinates are given by (86) and (111) respectively. The second integral of motion can be derived by directly transforming the second equation in (112). Using (110) we derive the expression for  $F_2 = F_{N-2}$  which is valid for arbitrary N

$$F_{N-2} = \sum_{a,b=1}^{N-1} p_a x_a p_b x_b \sum_{\substack{k=1\\k\neq a,b}}^{N} m_k - \sum_{a=1}^{N-1} (p_a x_a)^2 m_a + \sum_{a=1}^{N-1} p_a^2 (m_a^2 - f_1 m_a) + \sum_{\substack{k=1\\k\neq a,b}}^{N} \frac{p_{\varphi_i}^2}{x_i^2} (m_i^2 - f_1 m_i) + g_0 \sum_{\substack{i,j\\i\neq j}}^{N} m_i x_j^2,$$
(113)

where

$$f_1(x_i, m_j) \equiv \sum_{i}^{N} (-x_i^2 + m_i).$$
(114)

If N = 5 we have four integrals of motion, three of which are given by (86), (111) and (113). The missing one is  $F_2$  which, as in the previous cases, is given by (107) in ellipsoidal coordinates

$$F_{2} = \sum_{i=1}^{4} R_{i} \frac{\sum_{j=1}^{3} (-1)^{j-1} \lambda_{i}^{3-j} f_{j-1}}{\prod_{\substack{k=1\\k\neq i}}^{4} (\lambda_{i} - \lambda_{k})},$$
(115)

<sup>§</sup>Hereinafter, we ignore an additional constant term and an overall constant factor which might arise in the expressions for the first integrals.

where  $f_0 \equiv 1, f_1$  is given by (114) and

$$f_2(x_i, m_j) \equiv \sum_{\substack{i,j \\ i \neq j}}^N m_i(-x_j^2 + \frac{m_j}{2}).$$
(116)

Using (110) we can represent  $F_2 = F_{N-3}$  in Cartesian coordinates and generalize it to higher dimensions

$$F_{N-3} = \sum_{j,k}^{N-1} p_j x_j p_k x_k M_2^{\neq k,j} - \sum_{j=1}^{N-1} (p_j x_j)^2 (M_1^{\neq j} m_j - m_j^2) - \sum_{j=1}^{N-1} p_j^2 (m_j f_2 - m_j^2 f_1 + m_j^3) - \sum_{j=1}^{N} \frac{p_{\varphi_j}^2}{x_j^2} (m_j f_2 - m_j^2 f_1 + m_j^3) + g_0 \sum_{i=1}^{N} x_i^2 M_2^{\neq i}$$
(117)

Here we use the following notations

$$M_1^{\neq j} \equiv \sum_{\substack{k=1\\k\neq j}}^N m_k, \qquad M_2^{\neq j_1,\dots,j_a} \equiv \sum_{\substack{k_1,k_2=1\\k_1,k_2\neq j_1,\dots,j_a}}^N m_{k_1} m_{k_2}.$$
(118)

#### 3.3.3 GENERALIZATION TO ARBITRARY DIMENSIONS

After tedious transformations on can rewrite (107) in  $x_a, \varphi_i$  coordinates,

$$F_a = (-1)^a \sum_{b,c=1}^{N_\sigma - 1} K^{bc}_{(a)}(x) p_b p_c - \sum_{i,j=1}^N L^{ij}_{(a)} p_{\varphi_i} p_{\varphi_j} + (-1)^{a-1} A_{N_\sigma - a} m_0^2 r_H^2,$$
(119)

where

$$K_{(a)}^{bc} = \left(\sum_{\alpha=0}^{N_{\sigma}-a-1} (-1)^{N_{\sigma}+\alpha-a} A_{\alpha} m_{b}^{N_{\sigma}-\alpha-a} + x_{b}^{2} \sum_{\alpha=1}^{N_{\sigma}-a-1} (-1)^{\alpha} M_{N_{\sigma}-\alpha-a-1}^{\neq b} m_{b}^{\alpha} \right) \delta^{bc} + M_{N_{\sigma}-a-1}^{\neq b,c} x_{b} x_{c}$$
(120)

$$L_{(a)}^{ij} = \left( (1 - \delta_a^1) \sum_{\alpha=1}^{N_{\sigma}-a} (-1)^{N_{\sigma}+\alpha} A_{\alpha-1} m_i^{N_{\sigma}-a-\alpha+1} - \delta_a^1 A_{N_{\sigma}-1} \right) \frac{\delta^{ij}}{x_i^2} + (-1)^{a-1} A_{N_{\sigma}-a} \frac{\sqrt{m_i-1}}{m_i} \frac{\sqrt{m_j-1}}{m_j}$$
(121)

with

$$A_{a}(x_{i}, m_{j}) \equiv \sum_{1 \leq k_{1} < \dots < k_{a}}^{N_{\sigma} - 1} \lambda_{k_{1}} \dots \lambda_{k_{a}}$$

$$= -\sum_{i=1}^{N_{\sigma}} x_{i}^{2} M_{a-1}^{\neq i} + \sum_{1 \leq k_{1} < \dots < k_{a}}^{N_{\sigma}} m_{k_{1}} \dots m_{k_{a}}, \qquad a = 1, \dots, N_{\sigma} - 1,$$
(122)

and

$$M_{i}^{\neq a_{1},\dots,a_{j}} \equiv \sum_{\substack{1 \le k_{1} < \dots < k_{i} \\ k_{1},\dots,k_{i} \neq a_{1},\dots,a_{j}}}^{N_{\sigma}} m_{k_{1}} \dots m_{k_{i}}, \qquad j = 0,\dots,N_{\sigma} - 1, \quad i = 1,\dots,N_{\sigma} - j.$$
(123)

It is also assumed that

$$A_0 \equiv 1, \qquad M_0^{\neq a_1, \dots, a_j} \equiv 1.$$
 (124)

One can check that in odd dimensions in the special cases of  $F_{N-1}$ ,  $F_{N-2}$  and  $F_{N-3}$ , the above reduce to the corresponding integrals of motion [77] given by (111), (113) and (117). One can also check, that simply requiring the rotation parameters to be equal in these expressions, one does not recover all the integrals of the special case of  $a_i = a, \forall i$  NHEMP. In such special cases all of the first integrals of the spherical mechanics of generic (non-equal  $a_i$ ) case transform into the Hamiltonian of the spherical mechanics of the equal  $a_i$  case. So, to obtaining the Liouville integrals in the isotropic case we need to develop more sophisticated contraction procedure.

We also note that the above expressions for the constants of motion were found in the ellipsoidal coordinates introduced for the special case of *non-equal* rotational parameters  $a_i$ . However, we then written them in the initial coordinates, they hold for generic nonzero values of the rotation parameters  $a_i$ . We will analyze the special cases where some of the  $a_i$  or  $m_i$  are equal in Section 4.1 and when one of them is vanishing in Section 4.2.

#### 3.3.4 KILLING TENSORS

In previous subsection we presented the constants of motion in the form demonstrating their explicit dependence on the momenta  $p_a, p_{\varphi_i}$ . To represent (119) through the respective  $N_{\sigma}$ second rank Killing tensors, one can replace the last term proportional to  $m_0^2$  from the massshell equation (80), (81). Note also that the  $F_a$ ,  $a = 1, \ldots, N_{\sigma} - 1$ , provides  $N_{\sigma} - 1$  one constants of motion. We can then add  $F_{N_{\sigma}}$  to this collection, which is proportional to the mass with the corresponding second rank killing tensor being the inverse metric, i.e.

$$F_{N_{\sigma}} = (-1)^{a-1} \left( r_{H}^{2} \sum_{A,B=1}^{2N+1+\sigma} g^{AB} p_{A} p_{B} - \left( \sum_{i=1}^{N} \frac{\sqrt{m_{i}-1} p_{\varphi_{i}}}{m_{i}} \right)^{2} \right),$$
(125)

where we assumed  $M_{-1}^{\neq b,c} = 0$ .

To get the expression for Killing tensors, we should simply replace the momenta by the respective vector fields,  $p_A \rightarrow \frac{\partial}{\partial x^A}$ . That is, in the coordinates  $(x_a, \varphi_a)$  where the constants of motion (119) are written, one should replace

$$p_a \to \frac{\partial}{\partial x^a}, \quad p_{\varphi_i} \to \frac{\partial}{\partial \varphi^i}, \quad p_r \to \frac{\partial}{\partial r}, \quad p_0 \to \frac{\partial}{\partial \tau}.$$

In ellipsoidal coordinates the above presented  $N_{\sigma} - 2$  Killing tensors read

$$K_{a} = \sum_{\alpha} A_{\alpha}^{\neq a} h^{\alpha} (\partial_{\lambda_{\alpha}})^{2} + \sum_{I} \sum_{\alpha} \frac{A_{\alpha}^{\neq a} \prod_{J \neq I} (m_{J} - m_{I})}{m_{I}(m_{I} - \lambda_{a}) \prod_{b} '(\lambda_{b} - \lambda_{a})} (\partial_{\varphi_{I}})^{2} + \frac{A^{a}}{A(\lambda)} \left( -\frac{1}{r^{2}} (\partial_{\tau})^{2} + r^{2} (\partial_{r})^{2} \right).$$

$$(126)$$

Thus, we have N + 1 mutually commuting Killing vectors  $\partial/\partial \varphi_i$ ,  $\partial/\partial_{\tau}$  and  $N_{\sigma}$  Killing tensors, summing up to  $d = N_{\sigma} + N + 1$  and hence the system is integrable. One may check that our expressions for the Killing tensors match with those appeared in [55,82] after taking the nearhorizon limit. We note that the two extra Killing vectors of the  $SL(2,\mathbb{R})$  part of the isometry which appear in the near horizon limit and in the coordinates of (76) take the form,

$$r\frac{\partial}{\partial r} - \tau\frac{\partial}{\partial \tau}, \qquad (\tau^2 + \frac{1}{r^2})\frac{\partial}{\partial \tau} - 2\tau r\frac{\partial}{\partial r} - \frac{2}{r}\sum_{i=1}^N \frac{\partial}{\partial \varphi_i},$$
 (127)

do not yield new independent constants of motion.

#### 3.4 THE FULLY ISOTROPIC, EQUAL ROTATION PARAMETERS

When all of the rotational parameters coincide, the Hamiltonian of probe particle reduces to the system on sphere and admits separation of variables in spherical coordinates [48, 49]. It can be checked that in this case, the Hamiltonian of the reduced mechanics derived from (86) transforms into the corresponding mechanics with equal parameters derived in [48, 49] for both odd and even dimensional cases. Notice, that in this limit the difference between even and odd cases becomes visible:

• In the odd case,  $\sigma = 0$ , isotropic limit corresponds to the choice  $m_i = N$ , i = 1, ..., N. As a result, the angular Hamiltonian (86) which we will denote it by  $\mathcal{I}_N$  takes the form

$$\mathcal{I}_N = \sum_{a,b=1}^{N-1} (N\delta_{ab} - x_a x_b) p_a p_b + N \sum_{i=1}^{N} \frac{p_{\varphi_i}^2}{x_i^2}, \qquad \sum_{i=1}^{N} x_i^2 = N.$$
(128)

For the fixed  $p_{\varphi_i}$  configuration space of this system is (N-1)-dimensional sphere, and the Hamiltonian defines specific generalization of the Higgs oscillator, which is also known as a Rossochatius system [83].

• In the even case,  $\sigma = 1$ , one has  $m_i = 2N$  when i = 1, ..., N and  $m_{N+1} = 1$ , i.e. we can't choose all parameters  $m_I$  be equal. As a result, the angular Hamiltonian (86) reads

$$\mathcal{I}_N = \sum_{i,j=1}^N (\eta^2 \delta_{ij} - x_i x_j) p_i p_j + \sum_{i=1}^N \frac{\eta^2 p_{\varphi_i}^2}{x_i^2} + \omega \sum_{i=1}^N x_i^2,$$
(129)

where

$$\eta^2 = 4N^2 - (2N - 1)\sum_{i=1}^N x_i^2, \qquad \omega = \left(1 - \frac{1}{2N}\right)^2 \sum_{i,j=1}^N p_{\varphi_i} p_{\varphi_j} - m_0^2 (2N - 1).$$
(130)

In the case of even dimension configuration space fails to be sphere (even with fixed  $p_{\varphi_i}$ ). What is important is that both systems admit separation of variables in spherical coordinates. Namely, by recursively introducing spherical coordinates

$$x_{N_{\sigma}} = \sqrt{N_{\sigma}} \cos \theta_{N_{\sigma}-1}, \qquad x_a = \sqrt{N_{\sigma}} \tilde{x}_a \sin \theta_{N_{\sigma}-1}, \qquad \sum_{a=1}^{N_{\sigma}-1} \tilde{x}_a^2 = 1, \tag{131}$$

we get the following recurrent formulae for the constants of motion

$$\sigma = 0: \quad \mathcal{I}_{odd} = F_{N-1}, \quad F_a = p_{\theta_a}^2 + \frac{p_{\varphi_{a+1}}^2}{\cos^2 \theta_a} + \frac{F_{a-1}}{\sin^2 \theta_a}, \quad F_0 = p_{\varphi_1}^2$$
(132)

$$\sigma = 1: \quad \mathcal{I}_{even} = 2Np_{\theta_N}^2 + \nu \sin^2 \theta_N + \left(2N \cot^2 \theta_N + 1\right) F_{N-1}, \quad (133)$$

It is clear, that  $F_1, \ldots, F_{N_{\sigma}-1}$  define complete set of Liouville constants of motion and the  $\sigma = 1$ system contains  $\sigma = 0$  as a subsystem. Moreover, the Rosochatius system (angular Hamiltonian for  $\sigma = 0$  case with fixed  $p_{\varphi_i}$ ) is superintegrable: it has N-2 additional functionally independent constants of motion defined by the expression

$$I_{a,a-1} = \left(p_{\theta_{a-2}}\sin\theta_{a-2}\cot\theta_{a-1} - p_{\theta_{a-1}}\cos\theta_{a-2}\right)^2 + \left(p_{\varphi_{a-1}}\frac{\cot\theta_{a-1}}{\cos\theta_{a-2}} + p_{\varphi_a}\cos\theta_{a-2}\tan\theta_{a-1}\right)^2.$$
(134)

When  $p_{\varphi_i}$  are not fixed, the system is  $(N_{\sigma} - 1 + N)$ -dimensional one. In that case, from its action-angle formulation [48,49] one can observe, that it remains maximally superintegrable for  $\sigma = 0$ , i.e. possesses 4N - 3 constants of motion: Besides 2N - 3 constants of motion given by (132) and (134), and the N commuting integrals  $p_{\varphi_i}$  (associated with axial Killing vectors), there are N additional constants of motion with quadratic term mixing  $p_{\theta_a}$  and  $p_{\varphi_i}$ ; i.e. N second rank Killing tensors in  $\partial_{\theta_a} \partial_{\varphi_i}$  direction. When  $\sigma = 1$ , the system is 2N-dimensional, and has 4N - 2 integrals, i.e., as lacks one integral from being maximal superintegrable.

From these constant of motion one can readily read the associated Killing vectors and second rank Killing tensors. Hence, isotropic system has N + 1 mutually commuting Killing vectors and  $d-3 = 2N + \sigma - 2$  Killing tensors, and an additional N non-commuting second rank Killing tensors.

For more detailed analysis of the isotropic case see [48, 49]. Here we present it mainly to set the conventions we use in the study of "intermediate case", when only some of the rotation parameters are equal to each other.

## **CHAPTER 4**

# INTEGRABILITY OF GEODESICS IN GENERAL NON-VANISHING AND VANISHING NHEMP GEOMETRY

In the previous chapter we studied two special cases of the integrability of Hamilton-Jacobi equation in the background of Non-Vanishing Near Horizon Extremal Myers-Perry black hole: when there are no equal rotation parameters and when all of the rotation parameters are equal. In this chapter we are going to generalize the previous results and study the case when some of the rotational parameters are equal and others are not. Furthermore, we are going to study the integrability of geodesics in the background of vanishing NHEMP geometry (when one of the rotational parameters is 0).

#### 4.1 PARTIALLY ISOTROPIC CASES

When some of the  $a_i \neq 0$ 's are equal the geometry (68) exhibits a bigger isometry group than  $SL(2,\mathbb{R}) \times U(1)^N$ ; depending on the number of equal  $a_i$ 's the  $U(1)^N$  part is enhanced to a rank N subgroup of U(N). This larger isometry group brings larger number of Killing vectors and tensors and one hence expects the particle dynamics for these cases to become a superintegrable system. This is what we will explore in this section and construct the corresponding conserved charges.

#### 4.1.1 PARTIALLY ISOTROPIC CASE IN ODD DIMENSION

Let's start with the simpler odd dimensional system,  $\sigma = 0$ , with p = N - l nonequal rotation parameters and l equal ones:

$$m_1 \neq m_2 \neq \ldots \neq m_p \neq m_{p+1}, \quad m_{p+1} = m_{p+2} = \ldots = m_N \equiv \kappa.$$
 (135)

Starting from the metric (76) we will construct the Hamiltonian for the reduced mechanics by introducing spherical and ellipsoidal coordinates. Spherical coordinates  $\{y, \theta_i\}, i = 1 \dots l - 1$ will be introduced for the *l* latitudinal coordinates  $x_{p+1}, \dots, x_N$  corresponding to the equal rotational parameters

$$x_{p+1} = y \prod_{i=1}^{l-1} \sin \theta_i, \qquad x_{p+a} = y \cos \theta_{a-1} \prod_{i=a}^{l-1} \sin \theta_i, \quad x_{p+l} = y \cos \theta_{l-1}, \qquad a = 2, \dots, l-1.$$
(136)

Hence,

$$\sum_{a=1}^{l} \frac{x_{p+a}^2}{m_{p+a}} = \frac{y^2}{\kappa}, \qquad \sum_{a=1}^{l} (dx_{p+a})^2 = (dy)^2 + y^2 \ d\Omega_{l-1}, \tag{137}$$

with  $d\Omega_{l-1}$  being the metric on (l-1)-dimensional sphere:  $d\Omega_{l-1} = d\theta_{l-1}^2 + \sin^2 \theta_{l-1} d\Omega_{l-2}$ .

Performing the coordinate transformation (136) in (68), it is seen that the radial coordinate y of the spherical subsystem behaves very much like the other latitudinal coordinates of nonequal rotational parameters. Therefore, we will treat y and  $x_1 \dots x_p$  in the same way:

$$y_{a} = (x_{1}, \dots, x_{p}, y), \qquad \widetilde{m}_{a} = (m_{1}, \dots, m_{p}, m_{p+1}) :$$

$$\sum_{a=1}^{p+1} \frac{1}{\widetilde{m}_{a}} = 1, \qquad \sum_{a=1}^{p} \frac{y_{a}^{2}}{\widetilde{m}_{a}} + \frac{y^{2}}{\widetilde{m}_{p+1}} = 1, \qquad (138)$$

in terms of which the metric takes the form

$$\frac{ds^2}{r_H^2} = A(y) \left( -r^2 d\tau^2 + \frac{dr^2}{r^2} \right) + dy_{p+1}^2 + y_{p+1}^2 d\Omega_{l-1} + \sum_{a=1}^p (dy_a)^2 + \sum_{i,j=1}^N \tilde{\gamma}_{ij} x_i(y) x_j(y) D\varphi^i D\varphi^j, \quad (139)$$

with

$$A(y) = \frac{\sum_{a=1}^{p+1} y_a^2 / \widetilde{m}_a^2}{4 \sum_{a(140)$$

Hamiltonian of the corresponding spherical mechanics then reads

$$\mathcal{I} = A \left[ \sum_{a,b=1}^{p} h^{ab} p_a p_b + \sum_{a=1}^{p+1} \frac{g_a^2}{y_a^2} + g_0 \right],$$
  
with  $g_a^2 = (p_{\varphi_1}^2, \dots, p_{\varphi_p}^2, \mathcal{I}_{p+1}), \quad h^{ab} = \delta^{ab} - \frac{1}{\sum_{a=1}^{p+1} y_a^2 / \widetilde{m}_a^2} \frac{y_a}{\widetilde{m}_a} \frac{y_b}{\widetilde{m}_b}.$  (141)

and  $\mathcal{I}_{p+1}$  defined as by (128) in (p + 1)-dimensional space. The above describes a lowerdimensional version of (86), where all rotational parameters are nonequal and we can analyze it as we did for the general case in the previous chapter. That is, we introduce on the (p + 1)dimensional ellipsoidal coordinates

$$y_a^2 = \frac{\prod_{b=1}^{p+1} (\widetilde{m}_a - \lambda_b)}{\prod_{b=1; b \neq a}^{p+1} (\widetilde{m}_a - \widetilde{m}_b)},\tag{142}$$

and take  $\lambda_{p+1} = 0$  for resolving the constraint (140) given by the second expression. The rest of the analysis goes through as in [33] and as in Section 3.3.

The partially isotropic case discussed here, as we see, interpolates between the generic case of **Section 3.3** (p = N - 1) and the fully isotropic case (p = 0) of **Section 3.4**: it decouples to the Hamiltonians of type (90) and (128). The case l = 1 corresponds to the system with non-equal parameters, and the spherical subsystem is trivial  $(\mathcal{I}_{p+1} = p_{\varphi_{p+1}}^2)$ . For  $l \ge 2$  the (l-1)-dimensional spherical subsystem is not trivial anymore and has 2(l-1) - 1 constants of motion. Thus the reduced (N-1)-dimensional angular system has p + 2l - 3 = N - 1 + l - 2constants of motion, i.e. the number of extra constants of motion compared to the generic case is l - 2, with l > 2. It becomes maximally superintegrable only for l = N, i.e when all rotational parameters are equal.

This discussion can be easily extended to the case of even dimensions ( $\sigma = 1$ ). Here we will have an additional latitudinal coordinate (p + l = N + 1) and a rotational parameter with a fixed value ( $m_{N+1} = 1$ ). One should note that  $m_{N+1}$  cannot be equal to any other rotational parameter, so it is one of the p non-equal parameters. In the limiting case when l = 1 and all rotational parameters are different and we have an integrable system with p = N configuration space degrees of freedom, as expected. Since  $m_{N+1}$  cannot be equal to the others, p cannot be equal to 0 and the even dimensional system cannot be maximally superintegrable. In the limit when all rotational parameters are equal except  $m_{N+1}$  (p = 1), the system will lack one integral of motion to be maximally superintegrable.

#### 4.1.2 GENERAL CASE

Having discussed the some equal  $m_i$ 's but the rest nonequal case, we now turn to the most general case when there are s sets (blocks) of equal rotation parameters each containing  $l_i$ members. As before we assume that there are p rotation parameters which are not equal to the others, so that  $p + \sum_{i=1}^{s} l_i = N_{\sigma}$ . Note that in our conventions  $l_i \ge 2$ . We introduce an upper index which, written on a parameter or a function, denotes the number of the block under consideration. So, for example  $m_a^{(i)}$  will denote all the equal rotational parameters in the *i*-th set of rotation parameters and  $x_a^{(i)}$  will denote their corresponding latitudinal coordinates and

$$\{m_a^{(i)}\} = m_{p+l_1+\ldots+l_{i-1}+a} \equiv \kappa^{(i)} \qquad i = 1, \ldots, s, \qquad a = 1, \ldots, l_i.$$
(143)

The list of all rotational parameters can be written as

$$\{m_{\alpha}\} = m_{1}, \ m_{2}, \dots, \ m_{p}, \ \{m_{a}^{(1)}\}, \ \{m_{a}^{(2)}\}, \dots, \ \{m_{a}^{(s)}\}, \qquad \alpha = 1, \dots, N$$

$$(144)$$

$$m_{1} \neq m_{2} \neq \dots \neq m_{p}, \qquad \{m_{a}^{(i)}\} = \kappa^{(i)} \quad \text{with} \qquad \kappa^{(i)} \neq \kappa^{(j)}, \quad p + l_{1} + \dots + l_{s} = N.$$

Let us start with the odd ( $\sigma = 0$ ) case and the metric (76). We can construct the Hamiltonian for the reduced mechanics by introducing spherical and ellipsoidal coordinates. Different spherical coordinates will be introduced separately for each set of latitudinal coordinates corresponding to different sets of equal rotational parameters.

$$x_1^{(i)} = r_i \prod_{\alpha=1}^{l_i - 1} \sin \theta_{\alpha}^{(i)} \qquad x_k^{(i)} = r_i \cos \theta_{k-1}^{(i)} \prod_{a=k}^{l_i - 1} \sin \theta_a^{(i)} \qquad x_{l_i}^{(i)} = r_i \cos \theta_{l_i - 1}^{(i)}, \qquad k = 2, \dots, l_i - 1$$
(145)

One should note that these spherical coordinates satisfy the relations

$$\sum_{a=1}^{l_i} (x_a^{(i)})^2 = r_i^2 \quad \text{and} \quad \sum_{a=1}^{l_i} (\mathrm{d}x_a^{(i)})^2 = \mathrm{d}r_i^2 + r_i^2 d\Omega_{l_i-1}^{(i)}, \tag{146}$$

where  $d\Omega_n^{(i)} = (\mathrm{d}\theta_n^{(i)})^2 + \sin^2 \theta_n^{(i)} d\Omega_{n-1}^{(i)}$  denotes the metric on unit *n*-dimensional sphere. For the rest of the latitudinal coordinates  $x_1 \dots x_p$  corresponding to non-equal rotational parameters

and the radial coordinates  $r_i$  of isotropic subsystems we introduce the notation

$$\{y_a\} = \{x_1, \dots, x_p; r_1, \dots, r_s\}, \qquad \{\widetilde{m}_a\} = \{m_1, \dots, m_p; \kappa^{(1)}, \dots, \kappa^{(s)}\}, \qquad (147)$$

In this notation the the metric (76) can be rewritten as

$$\frac{ds^2}{r_H^2} = A(y)\left(-r^2d\tau^2 + \frac{dr^2}{r^2}\right) + \sum_{a=1}^{p+s} dy_a^2 + \sum_{b=1}^s y_{p+b}^2 d\Omega_{l_b-1}^{(b)} + \sum_{i,j=1}^N \tilde{\gamma}_{ij}x_i(y)x_j(y)D\varphi^i D\varphi^j, \quad (148)$$

where  $\tilde{\gamma}_{ij}$ , A(y) are defined as in (77) and (140) respectively. Therefore, the Hamiltonian of the corresponding angular mechanics reads

$$\mathcal{I} = A \left[ \sum_{a,b=1}^{p+s-1} h^{ab} \pi_a \pi_b + \sum_{a=1}^{p+s} \frac{g_a^2}{y_a^2} + g_0 \right]$$

$$\{g_a^2\} = \{p_{\varphi_1}^2, \dots, p_{\varphi_p}^2; \ \mathcal{I}^{(1)}, \dots, \mathcal{I}^{(s)}\}, \qquad \mathcal{I}^{(a)} = F_{l_a-1}^{(a)},$$
(149)

where  $\mathcal{I}^{(a)}$  are the spherical subsystems resulting from the *s* sets of equal rotation parameters,  $h^{ab}$  is defined by (141), and

$$F_{d}^{(a)} = p_{\theta_{d}^{(a)}}^{2} + \frac{(g_{d+1}^{(a)})^{2}}{\cos^{2}\theta_{d}^{(a)}} + \frac{F_{d-1}^{(a)}}{\sin^{2}\theta_{d}^{(a)}}, \qquad F_{0}^{(a)} = (g_{1}^{(a)})^{2}, \qquad g_{d}^{(a)} = p_{\varphi_{p+l_{1}+\dots+l_{a-1}+d}}$$

$$\{\pi_{a}, \lambda_{b}\} = \delta_{ab}, \qquad \{p_{\varphi_{i}}, \varphi_{j}\} = \delta_{ij} \qquad \{p_{\theta_{b}^{(a)}}, \theta_{d}^{(c)}\} = \delta_{ac}\delta_{bd},$$
(150)

Hence, the reduced spherical mechanics (149) has the exact form of (90) (with appropriate constants) whose integrability has already been discussed. All discussions from the previous subsection can be easily extended to this case, e.g. separation of variables may be achieved in the ellipsoidal coordinates

$$y_a^2 = \frac{\prod_{b=1}^{p+s} (\widetilde{m}_a - \lambda_b)}{\prod_{b=1; b \neq a}^{p+s} (\widetilde{m}_a - \widetilde{m}_b)},\tag{151}$$

and place  $\lambda_{p+s} = 0$  for resolving the constraint on latitudinal coordinates (78), which now takes the form  $\sum_{a=1}^{p+s} \frac{y_a^2}{\tilde{m}_a} = 1.$ 

So, we separated the variables for the (N - 1)-dimensional angular mechanics describing the geodesics in the near-horizon limit of  $(2N + 1 + \sigma)$ -dimensional Myers-Perry black hole in arbitrary dimension with arbitrary non-zero values of rotational parameters. The number of constants of motion in this system can be easily counted: it is equal to  $d + N_{\sigma} - p - 2s$ . The generic case of nonequal  $m_i$  is recovered by  $s = 0, p = N_{\sigma}$  and the fully isotropic case as s = 1, p = 0. In a similar manner one can construct associated Killing tensors.

#### 4.1.3 CONTRACTION FROM FULLY NON-ISOTROPIC TO ISOTROPIC NHEMP

Having the two corner cases discussed (fully non-isotropic and isotropic) an interesting question arises. What kind of approximation would transform the first integrals of fully non-isotropic NHMEP to the first integrals of isotropic NHEMP? It is straightforward to check that simply taking all rotation parameters to be equal just transforms all the first integrals of fully nonisotropic NHMEP to the Hamiltonian of the spherical mechanics of isotropic NHEMP (with an overall constant factor and a constant term). So if  $m_i = N$ 

$$F_a = C_a \left( \sum_{b,c=1}^{N-1} (\delta_{bc} - x_b x_c) p_b p_c + \sum_{k=1}^{N} \frac{p_{\varphi_k}^2}{x_k^2} \right) + C_a'$$
(152)

where  $C_a$  and  $C'_a$  are constants. To find the desired approximation, we will work with rotation parameters which have little variations from their isotropic value N ( $\epsilon_i \ll N$ ),

$$m_i = N + \epsilon_i.$$

In such a limit, the Hamiltonian of the non-isotropic mechanics can be extended in powers of  $\epsilon_i$ , keeping the first order term only

$$F_{1} = N^{N-3} \left[ N \widetilde{\mathcal{I}}_{iso} + N^{2} g_{0} - \sum_{i=1}^{N} \epsilon_{i} x_{i}^{2} \left[ \sum_{a}^{N-1} p_{a}^{2} + \sum_{k}^{N} \frac{p_{\varphi_{k}}^{2}}{x_{k}^{2}} + g_{0} \right] + 2 \sum_{a,b}^{N-1} \epsilon_{a} p_{a} x_{a} p_{b} x_{b} \right]$$
(153)

where

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{I}}_{iso} = \sum_{a,b=1}^{N-1} (N\delta_{ab} - x_a x_b) p_a p_b + N \sum_{i=1}^{N} \frac{p_{\varphi_i}^2}{x_i^2}$$
(154)

is the isotropic Hamiltonian. We should note that the linear term of  $F_1$  still corresponds with the isotropic Hamiltonian  $\widetilde{\mathcal{I}}_{iso}$  but the relation  $\sum x_i^2 = N$  doesn't hold anymore.

Now, if we find some linear combination  $P(F_a)$  of first integrals of non-isotropic mechanics such that the free term of the expansion around  $m_i = N$  vanishes, we can write

$$\{P(F_a), F_1\} = 0 = \left\{ \sum_{i=1}^N \epsilon_i P_i(p_j, x_j) , \ \widetilde{\mathcal{I}}_{iso} + \sum_{i=1}^N \epsilon_i(\dots) \right\} = \sum_{i=1}^N \epsilon_i \left\{ P_i(p_j, x_j) , \ \widetilde{\mathcal{I}}_{iso} \right\}$$

$$\implies \qquad \left\{ P_i(p_j, x_j) , \ \widetilde{\mathcal{I}}_{iso} \right\} = 0$$

$$(155)$$

We see that the first order coefficients  $P_i(p_j, x_j)$  of the  $P(F_a)$  linear combination are first integrals for  $\tilde{\mathcal{I}}_{iso}$ . To construct such combination whose free term vanishes we can take any of the first integrals, let's say  $F_{N-1}$  and expand it.

$$F_{N-1} = (-1)^{N} \left[ \widetilde{\mathcal{I}}_{iso} - \frac{g_0}{N} \sum_{i=1}^{N} \epsilon_i x_i^2 + \sum_i^{N} \epsilon_i \frac{p_{\varphi_i}^2}{x_i^2} + \sum_{a=1}^{N-1} \epsilon_a p_a^2 \right]$$
(156)

We see from (153) and (156) that by combining  $F_1$  and  $F_{N-1}$  the free term can be eliminated

$$N^{-(N-3)}F_{1} + (-1)^{N-1}NF_{N-1} - g_{0}N^{2} = -\left(\sum_{a}^{N-1}p_{a}^{2} + \sum_{k}^{N}\frac{p_{\varphi_{k}}^{2}}{x_{k}^{2}}\right)\sum_{i=1}^{N}\epsilon_{i}x_{i}^{2} + 2\sum_{a,b}^{N-1}\epsilon_{a}p_{a}x_{a}p_{b}x_{b} - N\left(\sum_{i}^{N}\epsilon_{i}\frac{p_{\varphi_{i}}^{2}}{x_{i}^{2}} + \sum_{a=1}^{N-1}\epsilon_{a}p_{a}^{2}\right)$$
(157)

Furthermore, from the expression  $\sum_{i}^{N} x_{i}^{2}/m_{i} = 1$  we can find

$$x_N^2 = \left(\tilde{x}_N^2 + \frac{1}{N}\sum_{a}^{N-1}\epsilon_a x_a^2\right) \left(1 + \frac{\epsilon_N}{N}\right), \quad \tilde{x}_N^2 \equiv N - \sum_{a}^{N-1} x_a^2$$

and replace with this relation every occurrence of  $x_N$  in (157). Doing this, we will end up with the same equation (157) with just  $x_N^2$  replaced by  $\tilde{x}_N^2$ . So in further calculations we are free to consider equation (157) with a redefined  $x_N$ 

$$\tilde{x}_N^2 \to x_N^2 = N - \sum_a^{N-1} x_a^2$$
(158)

Thus, having in mind (155), we find the first integrals of isotropic mechanics to be

$$F_{a}^{iso} = -x_{a}^{2} \left( \sum_{b}^{N-1} p_{b}^{2} + \sum_{k}^{N} \frac{p_{\varphi_{k}}^{2}}{x_{k}^{2}} \right) + 2p_{a}x_{a} \sum_{b}^{N-1} p_{b}x_{b} - N \left( \frac{p_{\varphi_{a}}^{2}}{x_{a}^{2}} + p_{a}^{2} \right)$$

$$F_{N}^{iso} = -x_{N}^{2} \left( \sum_{b}^{N-1} p_{b}^{2} + \sum_{k}^{N} \frac{p_{\varphi_{k}}^{2}}{x_{k}^{2}} \right) - N \frac{p_{\varphi_{N}}^{2}}{x_{N}^{2}}$$
(159)

Now, we can see that the sum of all N first integrals results into the casimir of isotropic mechanics

$$\sum_{i=1}^{N} F_i^{iso} = -2 \ \widetilde{\mathcal{I}}_{iso}.$$
(160)

Thus, by definition, all  $F_i^{iso}$  commute with  $\sum_{i=1}^N F_i^{iso}$ , but one can check that they don't commute with each other.

#### 4.2 EXTREMAL VANISHING HORIZON CASE

As seen from metric (68), the case where one of the  $a_i$ 's is zero is a singular case. In fact for this case one should revisit the near-horizon limit. It has been shown that [80] for the odd dimensional extremal MP black holes the horizon area also vanishes and we are hence dealing with an Extremal Vanishing Horizon (EVH) black hole [79]. The near-horizon EVH black holes have remarkable features which are not shared by generic extremal black holes; they constitute different set of geometries which should be studied separately [84]. In particular, it has been proved that for EVH black holes the near horizon geometry include an AdS<sub>3</sub> factor (in contrast with the AdS<sub>2</sub> factor of general extremal case) [84, 85], i.e. the *d* dimensional NHEVHMP exhibits  $SO(2,2) \times U(1)^{N-1}$  isometry. To study this case, we start by a review on black hole geometry itself. Then, by taking the near horizon and EVH limit, we discuss the separability of Hamilton-Jacobi equations on the NHEVH geometries.

As discussed in the special case of EVH black holes one has to revisit the standard NH theorems for extremal black holes. Here we review EVH black holes in the family of odd dimensional MP black holes [78]:

$$ds^{2} = -d\tau^{2} + \frac{\mu\rho^{2}}{\Pi F}(d\tau + \sum_{i=1}^{N} a_{i}\mu_{i}^{2}d\phi_{i})^{2} + \frac{\Pi F}{\Pi - \mu\rho^{2}}d\rho^{2} + \sum_{i=1}^{N}(\rho^{2} + a_{i}^{2})(d\mu_{i}^{2} + \mu_{i}^{2}d\phi_{i}^{2})$$
(161)

where

$$F = 1 - \sum_{i} \frac{a_i^2 \mu_i^2}{\rho^2 + a_i^2}, \quad \Pi = \prod_{i=1}^N (\rho^2 + a_i^2), \qquad \sum_{i} \mu_i^2 = 1.$$
(162)

The extremal case happens when  $\Pi - \mu \rho^2 = 0$  has double roots and the EVH case is when one of  $a_i$  parameters, which we take to be  $a_N$  is zero. That is in the EVH case  $\mu = \prod_{a=1}^{N-1} a_a^2$ . We note that we could have considered a "near-EVH" metric where the black hole is at a non-zero but small temperature and the horizon area is also small, while the ratio of horizon area to the temperature is finite [79,84].

The horizon for the EVH case is at  $\rho = 0$  and hence in the NH limit, the leading contributions come from

$$\Pi = \mu \rho^2 (1 + \frac{\rho^2}{r_0^2}), \qquad F_0 = 1 - \sum_{a=1}^{N-1} \mu_a^2, \qquad \frac{1}{r_0^2} = \sum_{b=1}^{N-1} \frac{1}{a_b^2}.$$
(163)

Plugging the above into the metric (161) and taking:

$$\rho = r_0 r \epsilon, \quad \tau = r_0 t/\epsilon, \quad \psi = \varphi_N/\epsilon, \quad \varphi_a = \phi_a + \tau/a_a, \quad a = 1, \dots, N-1, \qquad \epsilon \to 0,$$

we obtain the NHEVHMP metric [80]:

$$ds^{2} = F_{0} r_{0}^{2} \left[ -r^{2} dt^{2} + \frac{dr^{2}}{r^{2}} + r^{2} d\psi^{2} \right] + \sum_{b=1}^{N-1} a_{b}^{2} d\mu_{b}^{2} + \sum_{a,b=1}^{N-1} \gamma_{ab} d\varphi_{a} d\varphi_{a},$$

$$\gamma_{ab} \equiv a_{a}^{2} \mu_{a}^{2} \delta_{ab} + a_{a} a_{b} \frac{\mu_{a}^{2} \mu_{b}^{2}}{F_{0}}.$$
(164)

where in the above a, b run from 1 to N-1. Had we started from the near-EVH geometry, the AdS<sub>3</sub> factor (the  $r, t, \psi$  part) of (164) would have turned into a generic BTZ black hole geometry [79, 84]. The NH geometry (164) has  $SO(2,2) \times U(1)^{N-1} \simeq SL(2,\mathbb{R}) \times SL(2,\mathbb{R}) \times U(1)^{N-1}$  isometry. This is to be compared with  $SL(2,\mathbb{R}) \times U(1)^N$  of the non-EVH NHEMP discussed in previous sections.

To discuss separability of the particle dynamics on (164), as in the previous sections, we introduce coordinates,

$$x_a \equiv \frac{a_a \mu_a}{r_0} \quad m_a \equiv \frac{a_a^2}{r_0^2} \qquad \sum_{a=1}^{N-1} \frac{1}{m_a} = 1,$$
(165)

in which (164) takes the form

$$\frac{ds^2}{r_0^2} = F_0 ds_{AdS_3}^2 + \sum_a^{N-1} dx_a^2 + \sum_{a,b}^{N-1} \tilde{\gamma}_{ab} x_a x_b d\varphi_a d\varphi_b,$$
(166)

with

$$ds_{AdS_3}^2 = r^2 \left( -dt^2 + d\psi^2 \right) + \frac{dr^2}{r^2}, \qquad F_0 = 1 - \sum_a^{N-1} \frac{x_a^2}{m_a},$$
  
$$\tilde{\gamma}_{ab} x_a x_b = \frac{1}{r_0^2} \gamma_{ab}, \qquad \tilde{\gamma}_{ab} = \delta_{ab} + \frac{1}{F_0} \frac{x_a}{\sqrt{m_a}} \frac{x_b}{\sqrt{m_b}}.$$
 (167)

The generators of the two  $SL(2,\mathbb{R})$  Killing vectors may be written as

$$H_{+} = \partial_{v}, \qquad D_{+} = v \,\partial_{v} - r \,\partial_{r} \qquad K_{+} = v^{2} \,\partial_{v} + \frac{1}{r^{2}} \,\partial_{u} - 2r \,v \,\partial_{r},$$
  

$$H_{-} = \partial_{u}, \qquad D_{-} = u \,\partial_{u} - r \,\partial_{r} \qquad K_{-} = u^{2} \,\partial_{u} + \frac{1}{r^{2}} \,\partial_{v} - 2r \,u \,\partial_{r}, \qquad (168)$$

where  $v = t + \psi$  and  $u = t - \psi$ . The Casimir of  $SL(2, \mathbb{R})$ 's are

$$\mathcal{I}_{\pm} = H_{\pm} K_{\pm} - D_{\pm}^2 \tag{169}$$

and one can readily check that both Casimirs are equal to  $\mathcal{I} = \frac{1}{r^2} \left( \partial_t^2 - \partial_{\psi}^2 \right) - r^2 \partial_r^2$ .

The mass-shell equation of the probe particle (80) then reads

$$\frac{(p_0)^2 - (p_\psi)^2}{r^2} = (rp_r)^2 + \mathcal{I}(p_a, x_a, p_{\varphi_a})$$
(170)

where

$$\{p_a, x_b\} = \delta_{ab}, \quad \{p_{\varphi_a}, \varphi^b\} = \delta_{ab}, \quad \{p_{\psi}, \psi\} = 1, \quad \{p_r, r\} = 1,$$
 (171)

and

$$\mathcal{I}(p_a, x_a, p_{\varphi_a}) = \left(1 - \sum_{c=1}^{N-1} \frac{x_c^2}{m_c}\right) \left[\sum_{a=1}^{N-1} p_a^2 + \sum_{a=1}^{N-1} \frac{p_{\varphi_a}^2}{x_a^2} + g_0\right],$$

$$g_0 = -\left(\sum_{a}^{N-1} \frac{p_{\varphi_a}}{\sqrt{m_a}}\right)^2 + m_0^2 r_0^2,$$
(172)

where  $\mathcal{I}$  in (172) is the Casimir. Note that while the background has  $SL(2,\mathbb{R}) \times SL(2,\mathbb{R}) \times U(1)^{N-1}$  isometry the Casimirs of the two  $SL(2,\mathbb{R})$  factors happen to be identically the same and hence we are dealing with a single  $\mathcal{I}$ ; appearance of an extra  $SL(2,\mathbb{R})$  does not add to number of constant of motion compared to the non-EVH case.

Hence, as in the regular case, we have to consider separately three cases

• Generic, non-isotropic case, all  $m_a$  are non-equal

To separate the variables in (172), in the special case when none of the rotational parameter is equal, we introduce the ellipsoidal coordinates

$$x_a^2 = \frac{\prod_{b=1}^{N-1} (m_a - \lambda_b)}{\prod_{b \neq a}^{N-1} (m_a - m_b)}.$$
(173)

In this terms the angular Hamiltonian reads

$$\mathcal{I} = \left(\prod_{a}^{N-1} \frac{\lambda_{a}}{m_{a}}\right) \left[\sum_{a=1}^{N-1} \frac{4\prod_{b}^{N-1}(m_{b} - \lambda_{a})}{\prod_{b \neq a}^{N-1}(\lambda_{b} - \lambda_{a})} \pi_{a}^{2} + \sum_{a}^{N-1} \frac{p_{\varphi_{a}}^{2}}{x_{a}^{2}} + g_{0}\right],$$
(174)

where  $\{\pi_a, \lambda_b\} = \delta_{ab}$ . One can see that (174) has a very similar form to (90), and using the identities (95) and (96), it can be rewritten as follows (after fixing the Hamiltonian  $\mathcal{I} = \mathcal{E}$ )

$$\sum_{a=1}^{N-1} \frac{R_a - \tilde{\mathcal{E}}}{\lambda_a \prod_{b=1, a \neq b}^{N-1} (\lambda_b - \lambda_a)} = 0,$$
(175)

where

$$R_{a} = 4\lambda_{a}\pi_{a}^{2}\prod_{b}^{N-1}(m_{b}-\lambda_{a}) + (-1)^{N-1}\sum_{b}^{N-1}\frac{\lambda_{a}g_{b}^{2}}{\lambda_{a}-m_{b}} - g_{0}(-\lambda_{a})^{N-1},$$

$$g_{a}^{2} = p_{\varphi_{a}}^{2}\prod_{b=1}^{N-1}(m_{a}-m_{b}), \qquad \tilde{\mathcal{E}} = \mathcal{E}\prod_{a}^{N-1}m_{a}.$$
(176)

Separation of variables and the constants of motion is similar to the **Section 3.3**, where (175) corresponds to (93).

• Isotropic case, all  $m_a$  are equal

In this case  $(m_a = N - 1)$ , we separate the variables in (172) by introducing spherical coordinates  $\{u, , y_{\alpha}, \theta_{N-2}\}$ 

$$x_{N-1} = u \cos \theta_{N-2}, \qquad x_{N-1-\alpha} = u \ y_{\alpha} \sin \theta_{N-2}, \qquad \sum_{\alpha=1}^{N-2} y_{\alpha}^2 = 1$$
 (177)

where  $\alpha = 1 \dots N - 2$ . In these coordinates (172) will take the following form

$$\mathcal{I} = \left(1 - \frac{1}{N-1}u^2\right) \left[p_u^2 + \frac{F_{N-2}}{u^2} + g_0\right]$$
(178)

with  $F_a$  defined in (132), where the separation of variables and the derivation of integrals of motion was carried out according to 3.4.

• partially isotropic case

The last case is the most general one which involves sets of equal and a set of non-equal rotational parameters. With the discussions of the two previous cases (fully isotropic and fully non-isotropic) in view and recalling the analysis of partially isotropic NHEMP case of previous section, it is straightforward to separate the variables in partially isotropic NHEVHMP. Following the steps in **Subsection 4.1.2**, one should first introduce different spherical coordinates for each set of equal rotational parameters and ellipsoidal coordinates for the joint set of non-equal rotational parameters and the radial parts of spherical coordinates. This will result into a spherical mechanics similar to (149) where the Hamiltonians of spherical subsystems will be included as parameters.

#### 4.3 DISCUSSION

Continuing the analysis of [33, 77], we studied separability of geodesic motion on the near horizon geometries of Myers-Perry black hole in d, even or odd, dimensions and established the integrability by explicit construction of d constants of motion. In the general case  $\left[\frac{d-1}{2}\right] + 1$  of these constants of motion are related to the Killing vectors of the background (note that the background in general has  $\left[\frac{d-1}{2}\right] + 3$  Killing vectors, but three of them form an  $sl(2,\mathbb{R})$  algebra and hence there is only one independent conserved charge from this sector). Our analysis reconfirms the earlier observations that although near-horizon limit in the extremal black holes enhances the number of Killing vectors by two [58], the number of independent conserved charges from the Killing vectors does not change. Our system, in the general case, has  $\left[\frac{d}{2}\right]$ constants of motion associated with second rank Killing tensors the system possesses. We also constructed the explicit relation between these Killing tensors and the conserved charges and one may check that our Killing tensors and those in [55] match. We note that the Killing tensors of [55] were obtained using the near horizon limit on the Killing tensors of Myers-Perry black hole in a coordinate system which makes the geodesics of black hole separable itself. Whereas, we directly worked with ellipsoidal coordinates for the NHEMP, introduced in [33]. Comparing the two systems before and after the NH limit, it was argued in [55] that a combination of Killing tensors is reducible to the Killing vectors, however, we obtain other second rank Killing tensors, through which the system remains integrable. Moreover, by explicitly showing the separability, one concludes that there is no inconsistency with the theorems in [51]. There is an extra conserved charge related to the Casimir of  $SL(2,\mathbb{R})$  symmetry group which intrinsically exists in the NHEG's. We have shown that the charge of the Casimir is independent of the other conserved charges. In this sense, one of the "hidden symmetries," symmetries which are associated with equations of motion and are not isometries of the background, becomes explicit in the NH limit [55].

Following the discussions in [48, 49], we showed that for special cases where some of the rotations parameters of the background are equal, the geodesic problem on NHEMP is superintegrable. We established superintegrability by establishing existence of other constants of motion. Our methods here, combined with those in [48,49], allows one to read the extra second rank Killing tensors obtained in these cases. The rough picture is as follows: We started with a system with  $2N + 1 + \sigma$  variables with N isometries. Fixing the momenta associated with the isometries, we obtained and focused the  $N - 1 + \sigma$  dimensional "angular mechanics" part. In this sector, whenever N number of rotation parameters  $m_i$  of the background metric are equal the  $U(1)^N$  isometry is enhanced to U(N) and this latter brings about other second rank Killing tensors. All in all, the fully isotropic case in odd dimensions with  $U(\frac{d-1}{2})$  isometry, the d-2dimensional spherical mechanics part is maximally superintegrable, it has N+(N-2)=2N-2extra constants of motion. The fully isotropic case in even dimensions, however, is not maximally superintegrable; it has still 2N - 1 extra Killing tensors (one less than the N constants of motion to make the system fully superintegrable). We discussed the "special cases" in two different ways. First, we reanalyzed the system from the scratch (in **Section 3.4**) and also took the equal rotation parameter limit of the generic case (in **Subsection 4.1.3**). As expected, these two cases matched. Our preliminary analysis, which we did not show here, indicate that the above statements is also true for the NH limit of extremal MP black holes in (A)dS backgrounds.

We also discussed the EVH case, which happens for odd dimensional extremal MP when one of the rotation parameters  $a_i$  vanishes. In the general NHEVHMP case, where the background isometry is  $SO(2,2) \times U(1)^{\frac{d-3}{2}}$  the number of independent charges associated with Killing vectors is  $\frac{d+1}{2}$ . Despite enhancement of the isometry group compared to the generic NHEMP case, we found that this symmetry enhancement does not add independent constants of motion, the system in general does not poses extra constants of motion and remains just integrable.

Here we explored second rank Killing tensors. One may suspect that the system has independent higher rank Killing tensors too, although it is unlikely. But if it does, the system for the generic rotation parameters becomes superintegrable. It is interesting to explore this question. Finally, as already pointed out in the introduction, one can consider other probes including scalar, Dirac field or gauge or tensor perturbations on the NHEMP backgrounds and study their integrability. To this end, the study of Killing Yano tensor and principal tensor [86, 87] should be completed.

## CHAPTER 5

# SUPERINTEGRABLE QUANTUM SYSTEMS AND RESONANT SPACETIMES

Geometrization of dynamics is a recurrent theme in theoretical physics. While it has underlied such fundamental developments as the creation of General Relativity and search for unified theories of interactions, it also has a more modest (but often fruitful) aspect of reformulating conventional, well-established theories in more geometrical terms, in hope of elucidating their structure. One particular approach of the latter type is the Jacobi metric (for a contemporary treatment, see [88–90]). This energy-dependent metric simply encodes as its geodesics the classical orbits of a nonrelativistic mechanical particle on a manifold moving in a potential.

The geometrization program we propose here can be seen as a quantum counterpart of the Jacobi metric. To a nonrelativistic quantum particle on a manifold moving in a potential, we shall associate a relativistic Klein-Gordon equation in a static spacetime of one dimension higher. Since the Klein-Gordon equation can be seen as a sort of quantization of geodesics (and reduces to the geodesic equation in the eikonal approximation), this provides a quantized version of the correspondence between particle motion on a manifold in the presence of a potential and purely geometric geodesic motion in the corresponding spacetime. Executing our geometrization algorithm in general reduces to a nonlinear elliptic equation closely reminiscent of the one emerging in relation to the Yamabe problem and its generalizations known as prescribed scalar curvature problems [92–94], and thus connects to extensive literature and interesting questions in differential geometry. (The Yamabe problem refers to constructing a conformal transformation of the given metric on a manifold that makes the Ricci scalar of the conformally transformed metric constant.)

While the correspondence we build may in principle operate on any system, we are primarily motivated by its application to a very special class of quantum systems whose energy is a quadratic function of the energy level number. Such systems are exemplified by the onedimensional Pöschl-Teller potential, and in higher dimensions they are typically superintegrable. In fact, our construction has been developed precisely as a generalization of the correspondence [95–97] between the Higgs oscillator [98,99], a particularly simple superintegrable system with a quadratic spectrum, and Klein-Gordon equations on the Anti-de Sitter (AdS) spacetime, the maximally symmetric spacetime of constant negative curvature. This correspondence has emerged in the context of studying selection rules [100–102] in the nonlinear perturbation theory targeting the AdS stability problem [103, 104]. The correspondence has been useful for both elucidating the structure of AdS perturbation theory [96] and for resolving the old problem of constructing explicit hidden symmetry generators for the Higgs oscillator [97].

The reason for our emphasis on systems with quadratic spectra is that, in application to such systems, our geometrization program generates Klein-Gordon equations whose frequency spectra are linear in the frequency level number, and hence the spectrum is highly resonant (the difference of any two frequencies is integer in appropriate units). It is well-known that in the context of weakly nonlinear dynamics, highly resonant spectra have a dramatic impact, as they allow arbitrarily small nonlinear perturbations to produce arbitrarily large effects over long times. This feature has been crucial in the extensive investigations of the AdS stability problem in the literature (for a brief review and references, see [104]). The main practical target of our geometrization program thus appears twofold:

• to provide geometric counterparts for quantum systems with quadratic spectra (the re-

sulting Klein-Gordon equation is set up on a highly special spacetime with a resonant spectrum of frequencies and the geometric properties of this spacetime are likely to yield insights into the algebraic properties of the original quantum system, including its high degree of degeneracy and hidden symmetries),

• to generate, starting from known quantum systems with quadratic spectra, highly resonant spacetimes (weakly nonlinear dynamics in such spacetimes is likely to be very sophisticated, sharing the features of the extensively explored weakly nonlinear dynamics of AdS).

In Section 5.1 and Section 5.2, we formulate our general geometrization procedure and describe how it simplifies for the case of zero mass in the Klein-Gordon equation one is aiming to construct. In Section 5.3, we describe how the previously known correspondence [95–97] between the Higgs oscillator and AdS fits in our general framework. In Section 5.4, we analyze the superintegrable Rosochatius system, which generalizes the Higgs oscillator, and generate a large family of spacetimes perfectly resonant with respect to the massless wave equation. We conclude with a review of the current state of our formalism and open problems.

The results of this chapter were obtained in cooperation with Oleg Evnin and are based on [76].

#### 5.1 GENERAL FORMULATION OF THE PROCEDURE

Consider a quantum system with the Hamiltonian

$$H = -\Delta_{\gamma} + V(x), \tag{179}$$

where  $\Delta_{\gamma} \equiv \gamma^{-1/2} \partial_i (\gamma^{1/2} \gamma^{ij} \partial_j)$  is the Laplacian on a *d*-dimensional manifold parametrized with  $x^i$  and endowed with the metric  $\gamma_{ij}$ . We shall be particularly interested in systems whose energy spectrum consists of (in general, degenerate) energy levels labelled by the level number N = 0, 1, ..., and the energy is a quadratic function of the level number:

$$E_N = A(N+B)^2 - C.$$
 (180)

Such spectra are indeed observed in a number of interesting systems, typically involving superintegrability, for example:

- The Higgs oscillator [98,99], which is a particle on a *d*-sphere moving in a potential varying as the inverse cosine-squared of the polar angle.
- The superintegrable version [105,106] of the Rosochatius system on a *d*-sphere [107,108], which is the most direct generalization of the Higgs oscillator.
- The quantum angular Calogero-Moser model [109].
- The (spherical) Calogero-Higgs system [110, 111].

We additionally mention the following two completely elementary systems which give a particularly simple realization of the quadratic spectrum (180):

- A particle in one dimension in an infinite rectangular potential well.
- The trigonometric Pöschl-Teller system [112].

We would like to associate to any system of the form (179) a Klein-Gordon equation in a certain static (d + 1)-dimensional space-time. We introduce a scalar field  $\tilde{\phi}(t, x)$  satisfying

$$-\partial_t^2 \tilde{\phi} = (-\Delta_\gamma + V(x) + C)\tilde{\phi}.$$
(181)

In the above expression, C can in principle be an arbitrary constant, but our main focus will be on systems with energy spectrum of the form (180) and C read off from (180). One can equivalently write (181) as

$$\Box_{\tilde{g}}\tilde{\phi} - (C + V(x))\tilde{\phi} = 0.$$
(182)

Where  $\Box_{\tilde{g}}$  is the D'Alembertian of the metric

$$\tilde{g}_{\mu\nu}dx^{\mu}dx^{\nu} = -dt^2 + \gamma_{ij}dx^i dx^j, \qquad (183)$$

with  $x^{\mu} = (t, x^{i})$ . By construction, if one implements separation of variables in (182) in the form

$$\tilde{\phi} = e^{iwt}\Psi(x),\tag{184}$$

one recovers the original Schrödinger equation as  $H\Psi = (w^2 - C)\Psi$ . This guarantees that the mode functions of (182) are directly related to the energy eigenstates of the original quantummechanical problem. Note that, if one focuses on systems with energy spectra of the form (180), by construction, separation of variables in (181) will lead to eigenmodes with linearly spaced frequencies:

$$w_N = \sqrt{A}(N+B). \tag{185}$$

In this case, after conversion to the Klein-Gordon form, which we shall undertake below, the resulting spacetime will possess a resonant spectrum of frequencies.

Equation (181) is not of a Klein-Gordon form, but we can try to put in this form by applying a conformal rescaling to  $\tilde{g}$  and  $\tilde{\phi}$ :

$$\tilde{g}_{\mu\nu} = \Omega^2 g_{\mu\nu}, \qquad \tilde{\phi} = \Omega^{\frac{1-d}{2}} \phi.$$
(186)

One thus gets (relevant conformal transformation formulas can be retrieved, e.g., from [113])

$$\Box_g \phi - \left[ (C+V(x))\Omega^2 + \frac{d-1}{2} \frac{\Box_g \Omega}{\Omega} + \frac{(d-1)(d-3)}{4} \frac{g^{\mu\nu} \partial_\mu \Omega \partial_\nu \Omega}{\Omega^2} \right] \phi = 0.$$
(187)

If the expression in the square brackets can be made constant by a suitable choice of  $\Omega$ , we get a Klein-Gordon equation in a spacetime with the metric  $g_{\mu\nu}$ . We thus need to solve the equation

$$(C+V(x))\Omega^2 + \frac{d-1}{2}\frac{\Box_g\Omega}{\Omega} + \frac{(d-1)(d-3)}{4}\frac{g^{\mu\nu}\partial_\mu\Omega\partial_\nu\Omega}{\Omega^2} = m^2.$$
 (188)

It is wiser to rewrite this equation through the metric  $\tilde{g}$ , which is already known and given by (183):

$$\frac{d-1}{2}\Omega\Box_{\tilde{g}}\Omega - \frac{d^2-1}{4}\tilde{g}^{\mu\nu}\partial_{\mu}\Omega\partial_{\nu}\Omega + (C+V(x))\Omega^2 = m^2.$$
(189)

Since neither V(x) nor  $\tilde{g}_{\mu\nu}$  depend on t, one can assume that  $\Omega$  is a function of  $x^i$  as well. Hence,

$$\frac{d-1}{2}\Omega\Delta_{\gamma}\Omega - \frac{d^2-1}{4}\gamma^{ij}\partial_i\Omega\partial_j\Omega + (C+V(x))\Omega^2 = m^2.$$
(190)

Note that (188) is closely reminiscent of the equation emerging from the following purely geometrical problem: Consider a metric  $g_{\mu\nu}$  whose Ricci scalar is R(x). Is it possible to find  $\Omega$ such that the Ricci scalar corresponding to  $\tilde{g}_{\mu\nu} = \Omega^2 g_{\mu\nu}$  has a given form  $\tilde{R}(x)$ ? Indeed, from the standard formulae for the change of the Ricci scalar under conformal transformations, see, e.g., (3.4) of [113], one gets

$$\Omega^{2}\tilde{R}(x) = R(x) + 2d\frac{\Box_{g}\Omega}{\Omega} + d(d-3)\frac{g^{\mu\nu}\partial_{\mu}\Omega\partial_{\nu}\Omega}{\Omega^{2}}.$$
(191)

Algebraically, this has the same structure as (188).

Equations of the form (191) for simple specific choices of g and  $\tilde{R}$  have been studied in mathematical literature as various realizations of the 'prescribed scalar curvature' problem [94]. Substitution

$$\Omega = \omega^{-\frac{2}{d-1}},\tag{192}$$

reduces (190) to the following compact form

$$-\Delta_{\gamma}\omega + (C+V(x))\omega = m^2 \omega^{\frac{d+3}{d-1}},$$
(193)

closely reminiscent to the equation arising in relation to the Yamabe problem [92–94]. (Note that the specific power of  $\omega$  appearing on the righ-hand side of this equation is different from the standard Yamabe problem. This is because we are performing a conformal transformation in a spacetime of one dimension higher, rather than in the original space.) Once (193) has been solved, the spacetime providing geometrization of the original problem (179) can be written explicitly as

$$g_{\mu\nu}dx^{\mu}dx^{\nu} = \omega^{\frac{4}{d-1}} \left( -dt^2 + \gamma_{ij}dx^i dx^j \right).$$
(194)

Equation (190) dramatically simplifies in one spatial dimension (d = 1), where all the derivative terms drop out, leaving  $\Omega \sqrt{C + V(x)} = m$ . Thus, for the particle in an infinite rectangular potential well, Klein-Gordonization gives a massless wave equation on a slice of Minkowski space between two mirrors, while for the Pöschl-Teller system, one immediately obtains a two-dimensional spacetime metric reminiscent of Anti-de Sitter spacetime AdS<sub>2</sub>. This latter result displays some parallels to the considerations of [114] (focusing in the hyperbolic Pöschl-Teller system).

As we already briefly remarked, the above geometrization procedure can be applied to any Hamiltonian of the form (179) and any C, irrespectively of the form of the spectrum. However, it is precisely for the spectrum and C given by (180) that the resulting spacetime possesses the remarkable property of being highly resonant (and one may expect that its geometric properties will give a more transparent underlying pictures of the algebraic structurs of the original quantum-mechanical problem, as happens for the Higgs oscillator). We shall therefore focus on the application of our geometrization procedure to such systems with quadratic energy spectra.

#### 5.2 THE MASSLESS CASE

Equation (193) is a nonlinear elliptic equation and in general difficult to solve. Extensive existence result are established for an algebraically similar equation arising in relation to the Yamabe problem, hence one may hope that some level of understanding of solutions to (193) in full generality may also be attained in the future. We shall not pursue such systematic analysis here, however.

Driven by practical goals of constructing resonant spacetimes and geometrizing concrete superintegrable systems, we would like to point out that (193) becomes linear and dramatically simplifies if one assumes  $m^2 = 0$ . Hence, converting a given quantum mechanical problem to a massless wave equation is considerably simpler than for general values of the mass.

We note that, if  $m^2 = 0$ , equation (193) looks identical to the Schrödinger equation corresponding to the Hamiltonian (179), with energy eigenvalue -C:

$$-\Delta_{\gamma}\omega + V(x)\omega = -C\omega, \qquad (195)$$

(Normalizable eigenstates of this energy do not generically exist, but  $\omega$  does not have to satisfy the same normalizability conditions as standard wave functions, hence this should not be a problem.) Since quadratic spectra (180) are seen to arise from highly structured, typically superintegrable, systems, one may naturally expect that (195) is amenable to analytic treatment.

There is one further assumption one might make that immediately yields solutions of (195) from known solutions of the original quantum-mechanical problem (179). Namely, imagine one has an K-parameter family of Hamiltonians (179) with quadratic spectra (180). In this case, A, B, and C are functions of the K parameters defining our family of Hamiltonians. One may impose

$$B = 0, \tag{196}$$

which generically yields an (K - 1)-parameter subfamily of quantum systems with quadratic spectra. Within this subfamily, the ground state  $\Psi_0$  has the energy -C, i.e.,  $H\Psi_0 = -C\Psi_0$ . Hence,  $\omega$  satisfying (195) can be chosen as the vacuum state of H:

$$\omega = \Psi_0. \tag{197}$$

We shall make use of this construction below, as it allows for a straightforward application of our methodology to known exactly solvable systems. (In some cases, it is geometrically advantageous to use the non-normalizable counterpart of  $\Psi_0$  with the same energy eigenvalue to define  $\omega$ . Such non-normalizable states should also be easy to construct for exactly solvable systems with quadratic spectra. We shall see an explicit realization of this scenario in our subsequent treatment of the superintegrable Rosochatius problem.)

As a variation of the above special case, one could force B of (180) to be equal to a negative integer and  $\omega$  to be equal to an excited state wavefunction. This, however, introduces singularities in the conformally rescaled spacetime (194) at the location of zeros of the excited state wavefunctions. While one could still try to pursue this scienario by imposing appropriate constraints on the wave equation solution at the singular locus, we shall concentrate below on the most straightforward formulation (197) utilizing the ground state wavefunction, where the conformal factor is non-vanishing and no such subtleties arise.
### 5.3 KG BACKGROUND DUAL TO HIGGS OSCILLATOR

Before proceeding with novel derivations we would like to demonstrate how the case of the Higgs oscillator, which has motivated our general construction, fits into our present framework. We are essentially just reviewing the derivations in [95–97].

The Higgs oscillator is a particle on a sphere moving in a specific centrally symmetric potential (which we shall specify below). It is remarkable for being one of only three centrally symmetric maximally superintegrable systems on a sphere (together with free motion and the spherical Coulomb potential). A practical manifestation of superintegrability is that all of its classical trajectories are closed. The quantum version of this system has attracted considerable attention after it was reintroduced in a different guise and solved in [115]. The observed high degeneracy of energy levels of this system prompted investigation of its hidden symmetries in [98, 99], which resulted in identification of the hidden SU(d) group of symmetries for a system on a *d*-sphere, and spawned extensive literature on algebras of conserved quantities of the Higgs oscillator. The energy spectum of the Higgs oscillator is of the form (180).

We shall now define, with some geometric preliminaries, the Higgs oscillator Hamiltonian. Consider a unit d-sphere embedded in a (d+1)-dimensional flat space as

$$x_0^2 + x_1^2 + \dots + x_d^2 = 1 \tag{198}$$

and parametrized by the angles  $\theta_1, ..., \theta_d$  as

$$x_{d} = \cos \theta_{d}, \qquad x_{d-1} = \sin \theta_{d} \cos \theta_{d-1}, \tag{199}$$
$$x_{1} = \sin \theta_{d} \dots \sin \theta_{2} \cos \theta_{1}, \qquad x_{0} = \sin \theta_{d} \dots \sin \theta_{2} \sin \theta_{1}.$$

The sphere is endowed with the standard round metric defined recursively in d

$$ds_{S^d}^2 = d\theta_d^2 + \sin^2 \theta_d ds_{S^{d-1}}^2, \qquad ds_{S^1}^2 = d\theta_1^2.$$
(200)

Similarly, the corresponding Laplacian is defined recursively

$$\Delta_{S^d} = \frac{1}{\sin^{d-1}\theta_d} \partial_{\theta_d} \left( \sin^{d-1}\theta_d \,\partial_{\theta_d} \right) + \frac{1}{\sin^2\theta_d} \Delta_{S^{d-1}}, \qquad \Delta_{S^1} = \partial_{\theta_1}^2. \tag{201}$$

The Higgs oscillator is a particle on a d-sphere moving in a potential varying as the inverse cosine-squared of the polar angle:

$$H = -\Delta_{S^d} + \frac{\alpha(\alpha - 1)}{\cos^2 \theta_d}.$$
(202)

The energy spectrum is given by

$$E_N = \left(N + \alpha + \frac{d-1}{2}\right)^2 - \frac{(d-1)^2}{4},$$
(203)

where N is the energy level number. This expression is manifestly of the form (180).

To implement our geometrization program for the Higgs oscillator, one can work directly with (190), which takes the form

$$\frac{d-1}{2} \frac{\Omega}{\sin^{d-1}\theta_d} \partial_{\theta_d} (\sin^{d-1}\theta_d \partial_{\theta_d} \Omega) - \frac{d^2 - 1}{4} (\partial_{\theta_d} \Omega)^2 + \left(C + \frac{\alpha(\alpha - 1)}{\cos^2\theta_d}\right) \Omega^2 = m^2.$$
(204)

Substituting  $\Omega = \cos \theta_d$  produces only two constraints on the parameters to ensure that the equation is satisfied:

$$C = \frac{(d-1)^2}{4}, \qquad m^2 = \alpha(\alpha - 1) + \frac{d^2 - 1}{4}.$$
 (205)

The value of C above agrees with the one in (203), while the relation between the Klein-Gordon mass and the Higgs potential strength is the same as found in [95]. The output of our construction is thus a family of Klein-Gordon equations on the spacetime

$$ds^{2} = \frac{-dt^{2} + ds_{S^{d}}^{2}}{\cos^{2}\theta_{d}},$$
(206)

which is precisely the (global) Anti-de Sitter spacetime  $AdS_{d+1}$ . We note that rational values of  $\alpha$  in (202) correspond to Klein-Gordon masses in AdS for which the frequency spectrum (185) is perfectly resonant (all frequencies are integer in appropriate units) rather than merely strongly resonant (differences of any two frequencies are integer in appropriate units). A remarkable property of the Higgs oscillator is that the metric (206) does not depend on the Higgs potential strength (which only affects the value of the Klein-Gordon mass). This feature is not replicated for more complicated potentials. Conversely, this implies that the AdS spacetime possesses a resonant spectrum of frequencies for fields of all masses (this statement can in fact be extended to fields of higher spins), rather than for fields of one specific mass. It is tempting to conjecture that AdS (being a maximally symmetric spacetime) is the only spacetime with this property, though we do not know a proof. Relations between Klein-Gordon equations of different masses have recently surfaced in the literature on "mass ladder operators" [116–119].

#### 5.4 KG BACKGROUND DUAL TO ROSOCHATIUS SYSTEM

#### 5.4.1 THE SUPERINTEGRABLE ROSOCHATIUS SYSTEM

The superintegrable Rosochatius system is the most direct generalization of the Higgs oscillator on a *d*-sphere preserving its superintegrability. General Rosochatius systems [107] were among the first Liouville-integrable systems discovered. A restriction on the potential makes these systems maximally superintegrable. The Higgs oscillator can be recovered by a further restriction of the potential as a particularly simple special case. Such systems are thus an ideal testing ground for applying our machinery, which has already been shown to work for the Higgs oscillator.

The superintegrable Rosochatius systems we shall deal with here are defined by the following

family of Hamiltonians:

$$H_d^{(R)} = -\Delta_{S^d} + \sum_{k=0}^d \frac{\alpha_k (\alpha_k - 1)}{x_k^2}.$$
 (207)

The explicit form of the Laplacian and coordinates on the unit *d*-sphere can be read off from (199-201). The standard more general definition of the Rosochatius system [107, 108] additionally includes a harmonic potential with respect to the  $x_k$  variables,  $\sum_k \gamma_k x_k^2$ , which gives an integrable system. If this harmonic potential is omitted, as we did above, the system becomes maximally superintegrable, as mentioned, for instance, in [105, 106].

In order to find the spectrum of the above Hamiltonian, we shall have to apply recursively the solution of the famed one-dimensional Pöschl-Teller problem [112]. While this material is completely standard and occasionally covered in textbooks, we find the summary given in [120] concise and convenient. The energy eigenstates of the Pöschl-Teller Hamiltonian

$$H_{PT} = -\partial_x^2 + \frac{\mu(\mu - 1)}{\cos^2 x} + \frac{\nu(\nu - 1)}{\sin^2 x}$$
(208)

are given by

$$\varepsilon_n = (\mu + \nu + 2n)^2, \qquad n = 0, 1, 2, \cdots$$
 (209)

We shall not need the explicit form of the eigenfunctions satisfying  $H_{PT}\Psi_n = \varepsilon_n \Psi_n$  (though it is known).

Because of the recursion relations on d-spheres outlined above, the Rosochatius Hamiltonian (207) can likewise be defined recursively:

$$H_d^{(R)} = -\frac{1}{\sin^{d-1}\theta_d} \partial_{\theta_d} \left( \sin^{d-1}\theta_d \,\partial_{\theta_d} \right) + \frac{\alpha_d(\alpha_d - 1)}{\cos^2\theta_d} + \frac{1}{\sin^2\theta_d} H_{(d-1)}^{(R)},\tag{210}$$

$$H_1^{(R)} = -\partial_{\theta_1}^2 + \frac{\alpha_1(\alpha_1 - 1)}{\cos^2 \theta_1} + \frac{\alpha_0(\alpha_0 - 1)}{\sin^2 \theta_1}.$$
(211)

The variables separate, and if one substitutes the wave function in the form

$$\Psi(\theta_1, \cdots, \theta_d) = \prod_{p=1}^d \frac{\chi_p(\theta_p)}{\sin^{(p-1)/2} \theta_p},$$
(212)

one obtains a recursive family of one-dimensional eigenvalue problems, all of which are of the Pöschl-Teller form:

$$\left[ -\partial_{\theta_d}^2 + \frac{\alpha_d(\alpha_d - 1)}{\cos^2 \theta_d} + \left( \frac{(d - 2)^2 - 1}{4} + E_{d-1} \right) \frac{1}{\sin^2 \theta_d} - \frac{(d - 1)^2}{4} \right] \chi_d = E_d \chi_d,$$
(213)  
$$\left[ -\partial_{\theta_1}^2 + \frac{\alpha_1(\alpha_1 - 1)}{\cos^2 \theta_1} + \frac{\alpha_0(\alpha_0 - 1)}{\sin^2 \theta_d} \right] \chi_1 = E_1 \chi_1,$$

where  $E_d$  are eigenvalues of  $H_d^{(R)}$ . Each subsequent equation introduces one new quantum number which we shall denote  $n_d$ .

The recursive solution of (213) proceeds as follows. First, the solution at d = 1 is given by (209) as

$$E_1(n_1) = (\alpha_0 + \alpha_1 + 2n_1)^2.$$
(214)

At d = 2, one gets

$$\left[-\partial_{\theta_2}^2 + \frac{\alpha_2(\alpha_2 - 1)}{\cos^2 \theta_2} + \frac{(\alpha_0 + \alpha_1 + 2n_1 + \frac{1}{2})(\alpha_0 + \alpha_1 + 2n_1 - \frac{1}{2})}{\sin^2 \theta_2} - \frac{1}{4}\right]\chi_2 = E_2\chi_2.$$
 (215)

Hence,

$$E_2(n_1, n_2) = \left(\alpha_0 + \alpha_1 + \alpha_2 + 2n_1 + 2n_2 + \frac{1}{2}\right)^2 - \frac{1}{4}.$$
(216)

The general pattern can now be guessed as

$$E_d(n_1, \cdots, n_d) = \left(\alpha_0 + \cdots + \alpha_d + 2n_1 + \cdots + 2n_d + \frac{d-1}{2}\right)^2 - \frac{(d-1)^2}{4}.$$
 (217)

It is straightforward to prove inductively that this expression persists under the recursion given by (213). Note that (217) is manifestly of the form (180). A classical version of the same construction, recursively expressing the superintegrable Rosochatius Hamiltonian through the action-angle variables has been given in [106].

# 5.4.2 KLEIN-GORDONIZATION OF THE SUPERINTEGRABLE ROSOCHATIUS SYSTEM

To demonstrate how the geometrization procedure we have proposed above operates, we shall now apply it to the superintegrable Rosochatius system. For the purposes of demonstration, we shall use the simplest formulation outlined in **Section 5.2**, which allows one to utilize known explicit solutions for ground state wavefunctions to construct the relevant massless Klein-Gordon (wave) equation.

The only technical input we shall need is the form of the ground state wavefunction of the Pöschl-Teller Hamiltonian (208) given by

$$\psi_0 = \cos^\mu x \sin^\nu x. \tag{218}$$

(This form satisfies the standard boundary conditions for physical wavefunctions only for  $\mu \ge 0$ and  $\nu \ge 0$ . If not,  $\mu$  must be replaced by  $1 - \mu$ , and correspondingly for  $\nu$ . This is, however, completely irrelevant for our application of  $\psi_0$  to construct geometrical conformal factors, and the above form, without any modifications, is perfectly suitable for our purposes.) From (218) and the recursive construction (212-217), one gets for the ground state wavefunction of the superintegrable Rosochatius Hamiltonian (207)

$$\Psi_0(\theta_1,\cdots,\theta_d) = \prod_{p=1}^d \left[ (\cos\theta_p)^{\alpha_p} (\sin\theta_p)^{\alpha_0+\alpha_1+\cdots+\alpha_{p-1}} \right].$$
(219)

On the other hand, B defined by (180) can be read off (217) as

$$B = \alpha_0 + \alpha_1 + \dots + \alpha_d + \frac{d-1}{2}.$$
 (220)

We can hence directly apply the algorithm of Section 5.2 by introducing

$$\omega = \prod_{p=1}^{d} \left[ \left( \cos \theta_p \right)^{\alpha_p} \left( \sin \theta_p \right)^{\alpha_0 + \alpha_1 + \dots + \alpha_{p-1}} \right].$$
(221)

under the assumption that

$$\alpha_0 + \alpha_1 + \dots + \alpha_d + \frac{d-1}{2} = 0.$$
 (222)

This yields a *d*-parameter family of spacetimes given by (194) whose massless wave equations possess perfectly resonant spectra and geometrize the superintegrable Rosochatius problem:

$$ds^{2} = \omega^{\frac{4}{d-1}} \left( -dt^{2} + ds_{S^{d}}^{2} \right).$$
(223)

(Note that setting  $\alpha_d = -(d-1)/2$  and the rest of  $\alpha_p$  to 0 returns the case of Higgs oscillator with the coupling strength corresponding to zero mass in the Klein-Gordon equation, while (223) becomes the AdS metric.)

For a final statement of our result, it is convinient to reparametrize  $\alpha_p$  as

$$\alpha_p = -\frac{d-1}{2}\beta_p \quad \text{for} \quad p \ge 1, \qquad \alpha_0 = -\frac{d-1}{2}\left(1 - \beta_1 - \dots - \beta_d\right).$$
 (224)

In terms of  $\beta_p$ , (223) becomes

$$ds^{2} = \frac{-dt^{2} + ds_{Sd}^{2}}{\prod_{p=1}^{d} \left[ (\cos \theta_{p})^{2\beta_{p}} (\sin \theta_{p})^{2(1-\beta_{p}-\dots-\beta_{d})} \right]}.$$
(225)

This evidently agrees with (206) when  $\beta_d = 1$  and the rest of  $\beta_p$  are zero.

#### 5.5 DISCUSSION

We have presented a procedure ("Klein-Gordonization") associating to quantum systems of the form (179) a Klein-Gordon equation on a static spacetime given by (194). For systems with the quadratic energy spectrum (180), our procedure results in spacetimes with a resonant spectrum of evenly spaced frequencies (185). This correspondence generalizes the previously known relation between the Higgs oscillator (202) and (global) Anti-de Sitter spacetime (206).

Implementing our procedure in practice requires solving a nonlinear elliptic equation, which can be written as (190) or (193). The latter form is closely reminiscent of elliptic equations extensively studied in relation to classic 'prescribed scalar curvature' problems of differential geometry (though the exact power appearing in the power-law nonlinearity is different). If one aims at constructing a massless Klein-Gordon (i.e., wave) equation corresponding to the original quantum-mechanical system, the nonlinearity drops out, resulting in a much simpler problem. In this case, known ground state wavefunctions for the original quantum system can be utilized for the conversion procedure, as described in section 5.2. We have demonstrated how this approach works for superintegrable Rosochatius systems (207), resulting in a family of spacetimes (225) resonant with respect to the massless wave equation.

We conclude with a list of open questions relevant for our formalism:

- General theory of existence of solutions of (193) would contribute appreciably to clarifying the operation of our formalism. Similar equations arising in differential geometry [94] have been thoroughly analyzed, hence one should expect that the situation for our equation may as well be elucidated.
- In practical applications of our formalism, we have focused on the case of zero Klein-Gordon mass, where (193) greatly simplifies. Are there any general technics for solving this equation (rather than analyzing the existence of solutions) for non-zero masses (at least, for solvable potentials in the original quantum-mechanical system).
- Equation (193) may in principle admit multiple solutions, given that there is freedom in choosing boundary conditions, depending on which conformal transformation one allows. Singular conformal transformations may also be allowed (and they may push boundaries

at finite distance off to infinity). This is in fact the case for the AdS construction starting from the Higgs oscillator. It would be good to quantify this freedom in choosing solutions of (193) and understand which prescriptions result in spacetimes interesting from a physical perspective.

- Systems with quadratic spectra exist in extentions of the class of Hamiltonians we have considered here, given by (179). For example, it is possible to include effects of monopole fields without distorting the spectrum [121]. Klein-Gordonization is likely to generalize to such systems, resulting in Klein-Gordon equations with background gauge fields.
- It would be interesting to understand how the spacetimes resulting from our construction, such as (225), function in the context of dynamical theories of gravity. For instance, Antide Sitter spacetime solves Einstein's equations with a negative cosmological constant. More complicated spacetimes may require some matter fields to be supported as solutions. In the context of dynamical theories, the resonant linear spectra of our spacetimes will guarantee that weakly nonlinear dynamics of their perturbations is highly sophisticated. (Nonlinear instability of AdS, which is precisely a manifestation of such phenomena, is a broad currently active research area.)
- What are the symmetry properties of spacetimes generated by "Klein-Gordonization"? How do they connect to the symmetries of the original quantum-mechanical problem (and in particular hidden symmetries)? Again, for the case of the Higgs oscillator, this perspective has turned out to be fruitful, and it would be good to see how it works in more general cases.

### CONCLUSION

Let us summarize our results. In **Chapter 2** we discussed how an impulsive signal in a singular hypersurface effects null geodesics in Minkowski space. A new approach has been suggested which allows for full analysis of geodesic congruences compared to previous studies [30, 31] where approximations were assumed. The method can be applied to any space-time and any geodesic congruence. It is based on the physically justified assumption that, in continuous coordinates, the geodesic vector of a test particle is continuous across the hypersurface. Thus, to obtain the geodesic vector in the future one just needs to apply a coordinate transformation on the geodesic vector in the past.

Applying this technique on a parallel null congruence in flat space we obtained the initial conditions for the congruence to the future of the shell. We proved that the resulting congruence stays hypersurface orthogonal, as it was before crossing the shell. Furthermore, we provided arguments which generalize this result to any hypersurface orthogonal congruence in the past, meaning that any such congruence will give rise to a hypersurface orthogonal congruence to the future. An equivalent physical statement would be that an impulsive signal does not effect the rotation of a congruence if it didn't rotate before crossing the shell.

As stated above, in continues coordinates the geodesic vector flow does not suffer a jump upon crossing the shell. But a discontinuity arises in the gradient of the geodesic vector flow, the B-tensor. We have shown, for the parallel geodesic flow, that this discontinuity is related to different components of the stress-energy tensor. In particular the jump in the expansion is determined by the energy density and currents on the shell while the jump in the shear is determined by the gravitational wave component together with the surface currents. It is clear from (56) and (57) that the results are independent of the choice of congruence in the case of BMS supertranslations. This change in the B-tensor after the passage of an outgoing gravitational wave leads to a covariant description of the gravitational memory effect - the B-memory effect.

**Chapter 3** and **Chapter 4** were devoted to the integrability problem of Hamilton-Jacobi equation in the near horizon geometry of Myers-Perry black hole in arbitrary (even or odd) *d* dimensions. The fully isotropic case in arbitrary dimensions has been fully studied previously. The fully non-isotropic problem in odd dimensions has been shown to be integrable, although the explicit form of the first integrals were unknown. We were able to introduce a convenient common description of the geometry in odd and even dimensions and unify these two cases into a single problem. After having this unified description, we continued studying the separability of variables in fully non-isotropic NHEMP geometry to prove the integrability of even dimensions as well and to find the explicit forms of the first integrals.

It was shown in [33] that integrals of motion of Hamilton-Jacobi equation in fully nonisotropic case can be expressed through inverse Vandermonde matrix in ellipsoidal coordinates. Solving this equation we found the hidden symmetries and expressed them through initial coordinates. This procedure was explained in lower (7, 9 and 11) dimensions and a general formula for higher dimensional first integrals was derived. Using our unified description of odd and even dimensions it is trivial to extend the results to the even dimensions, where the problem is integrable as well. We also found the second rank Killing tensors generating these symmetries. It is also interesting to have a transformation relating the first integrals of fully isotropic NHEMP to the first integrals of fully non-isotropic NHEMP. Taking all rotation parameters to be equal to each other in the first integrals of fully non-isotropic NHEMP just transforms all of them to the Hamiltonian of the spherical mechanics of fully isotropic NHEMP, so finding a transformation between the first integrals of these two systems is not a trivial task. We found such a transformation by taking small variations of the rotation parameters from their isotropic value and introducing combinations of first integrals which commute with the isotropic Hamiltonian.

After finalizing the discussion of the special cases, meaning the fully isotropic and fully non-isotropic cases, it is apparent that they are a part of a bigger picture, the most general case when rotation parameters are grouped in blocks of equal and non-equal values. Indeed, it turns out that when some of the rotation parameters are equal to each other and are different from the rest, the system becomes superintegrable. In short, the steps for obtaining the hidden symmetries is the following. We start from a system with  $2N + 1 + \sigma$  variables with N isometries. Fixing the momenta associated with the isometries, we obtain and focus the  $N-1+\sigma$  dimensional "angular mechanics" part. By introducing a special coordinate system, which is a mixture of spherical and ellipsoidal coordinates, we separate the variables in the angular mechanics thus introducing  $N - 1 + \sigma$  independent constants, or the first integrals. This system reduced to its special cases of fully isotropic and fully non-isotropic NHEMP after appropriate assumptions.

The next step in our discussion was the extremal vanishing horizon geometry, which exists in odd dimensions, when one of the rotation parameters  $a_i$  vanishes. In the general NHEVHMP case, where the background isometry is  $SO(2,2) \times U(1)^{\frac{d-3}{2}}$  the number of independent charges associated with Killing vectors is  $\frac{d+1}{2}$ . The system contains two conformal algebras, but they have the same Casimir operator, so there is a single angular mechanics. As a result the system remains integrable and no new independent constants of motion exist compared to the nonvanishing case.

In **Chapter 5** we have suggested an approach for mapping quantum systems to a Klein-Gordon equation on a curved space-time. In general, the procedure is the following. We start from the equation (182) which defines a scalar field and can be reduced to the Schrödinger equation with Hamiltonian (179) after separating the time variable. Equation (182) is not a

Klein-Gordon equation yet but can be transformed into such after an appropriate conformal rescaling (186) of the metric and the scalar field. Such a conformal factor should satisfy a nonlinear elliptic equation (190), which greatly simplifies with a further assumption of the Klein-Gordon equation being massless. Now, we are primarily interested in systems with quadratic spectra for various reasons mentioned in the introduction and in the **Chapter 5**. We have shown that for these spectra the ground state wavefunction of the initial Schrödinger equation satisfies the elliptic equation for the conformal factor. In other words, the ground state wavefunction of the initial Schrödinger equation defines the conformal factor which maps the quantum system to a massless wave equation.

Many well-known physical systems, including superintegrable ones, have quadratic spectra. Examples include the Higgs oscillator, the superintegrable Rosochatius system and elementary systems like one dimensional infinite rectangular potential well problem and the trigonometric Pöschl-Teller system. We have demonstrated how the proposed mapping procedure can be applied on the Higgs oscillator and the superintegrable Rosochatius system. In the case of Higgs oscillator, the procedure results into a massive Klein-Gordon equation in the AdS background. In the case of superintegrable Rosochatius system we obtain a massless field equation on the background (225).

### SUMMARY

Here we present the outline of the main results of this thesis.

- A new approach has been suggested for studying the effects of impulsive gravitational waves of congruences encountering them.
- The technique has been applied on null congruences. It has been established that hypersurface orthogonal null congruences stay such after crossing the shell.
- A covariant definition of the gravitational memory effect has been suggested based on the B-tensor of the congruence. The relations between the components of the B-tensor and the stress-energy tensor of the shell have been derived.
- The B-tensor has been calculated and the approach has been demonstrated for BMS type soldering.
- A common description has been introduced for even and odd dimensional NHEMP geometries. This description was used to prove that the even dimensional fully non-isotropic NHEMP system is integrable.
- Integrals of motion, as well as the Killing vectors of the fully non-isotropic NHEMP in arbitrary dimensions have been presented in initial coordinates.
- We found a non-trivial transformation between the integrals of motion of fully nonisotropic and fully isotropic NHEMP black hole geometries.

- We separated the variables of the most general partially isotropic NHEMP and showed its transformation to the special cases of fully non-isotropic and isotropic NHEMP.
- A new approach has been suggested for mapping Schrödinger equation on a curved background to a Klein-Gordon equation on the background of another geometry.
- We have shown that this procedure greatly simplifies for systems with quadratic spectra and applied it on the Higgs oscillator and the superintegrable Rosochatius system.

## ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Firstly, I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my advisor Prof. Armen Nersessian for the continuous support of my Ph.D study and related research, for his patience, motivation, and immense knowledge. He encouraged me to grow as an independent scientist and his guidance helped me in all the time of research and writing of this thesis. Besides everything, he made it possible for me to visit many institutions abroad and cooperate with foreign scientists. He also made me part of many grants and projects, the financial support from which allowed me to fully concentrate on my research.

My sincere thanks goes to Prof. Martin O'Loughlin who first supervised my master's thesis and then, along with Prof. Nersessian, part of my Ph.D research. Despite his busy schedules, Prof. O'Loughlin has made himself available for scientific discussions and was always open to share with me his profound research experience.

I also thank Prof. M.M. Sheikh-Jabbari for giving me the opportunity to visit the Institute for Research in Fundamental Sciences (IPM) and work with him and his research team in a very friendly and motivating environment. I greatly appreciate the collaborative work with Prof. Oleg Evnin and thank him for his proposed problem to which a chapter of the current thesis is dedicated and for his guidance for solving it.

Last but not the least, I would like to thank Byurakan Astrophysical Observatory staff members and researchers for their continues support, patience and encouragement. They have assisted me with any problem and question and backed me from the very first day I entered the observatory.

### REFERENCES

- W. Israel, Singular Hypersurfaces and Thin Shells in General Relativity, Nuovo Cimento B 44, 1966 1–14
- [2] J. Bicak, "Selected solutions of Einstein's field equations: Their role in general relativity and astrophysics," Lect. Notes Phys. 540, 1 (2000) [arXiv:0004016 [gr-qc]].
- [3] P. S. Negi, "Exact solutions of Einstein's field equations," Int. J. Theor. Phys. 45, 1684
   (2006) [arXiv:0401024 [gr-qc]].
- [4] Hoyle F., Fowler W. A., 1963, MNRAS, 125, 169
- [5] Hoyle F., Fowler W. A., 1963, Nature, 197, 533
- [6] M. C. Begelman, "Evolution of supermassive stars as a pathway to black hole formation," Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 402, 673 (2010) [arXiv:0910.4398 [astro-ph.CO]].
- [7] Cattaneo, A., Faber, S. M., Binney, J. et al., "The role of black holes in galaxy formation and evolution," 2009, Nature, 460, 213, arXiv:0907.1608 [astro-ph.CO]
- [8] L. Ferrarese and D. Merritt, "A Fundamental relation between supermassive black holes and their host galaxies," Astrophys. J. 539, L9 (2000) [arXiv:astro-ph/0006053].
- K. Gebhardt *et al.*, "A Relationship between nuclear black hole mass and galaxy velocity dispersion," Astrophys. J. 539, L13 (2000) [arXiv:astro-ph/0006289].
- [10] Blandford, R. D., & Znajek, R. L. 1977, "Electromagnetic extraction of energy from Kerr black holes" MNRAS, 179, 433

- [11] R. Narayan, A. Sadowski, R. F. Penna and A. K. Kulkarni, "GRMHD Simulations of Magnetized Advection Dominated Accretion on a Non-Spinning Black Hole: Outflows and Convection," Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 426, 3241 (2012) arXiv:1206.1213 [astroph.HE].
- [12] M. J. Rees, "Astrophysical evidence for black holes," [arXiv:9701161 [astro-ph]].
- [13] K. Menou, E. Quataert and R. Narayan, "Astrophysical evidence for black hole event horizons," [arXiv:9712015 [astro-ph]].
- [14] Carr, B. J. (1996) Black Holes in Cosmology and Astrophysics, in General Relativity (Proceedings of the 46th Scottish Universities Summer School in Physics), Institute of Physics Publishing, London
- [15] Kerr, R. P., Gravitational Field of a Spinning Mass as an Example of Algebraically Special Metrics, 1963, Physical Review Letters, 11, 237
- [16] L. Gou *et al.*, "Confirmation Via the Continuum-Fitting Method that the Spin of the Black Hole in Cygnus X-1 is Extreme," Astrophys. J. **790**, no. 1, 29 (2014) [arXiv:1308.4760 [astro-ph.HE]].
- [17] L. W. Brenneman and C. S. Reynolds, "Constraining Black Hole Spin Via X-ray Spectroscopy," Astrophys. J. 652, 1028 (2006) [arXiv:0608502 [astro-ph]].
- [18] J. H. Taylor, L. A. Fowler and P. M. McCulloch, "Measurements of general relativistic effects in the binary pulsar PSR 1913+16," Nature 277, 437 (1979).
- [19] Fender, R. P. Gallo E., Russell D., "No evidence for black hole spin powering of jets in X-ray binaries" 2010, MNRAS, 406, 1425 [arXiv:1003.5516 [astro-ph.HE]]
- [20] Abramowicz, Marek A., P. Chris Fragile. "Foundations of Black Hole Accretion Disk Theory". Living Reviews in Relativity 16.1 (2013): 1. PMC. Web. 28 July 2017.

- [21] M. Walker, R. Penrose, Commun. Math. Phys. 18 (1970) 265.
- [22] C. Barrabes and W. Israel, "Thin shells in general relativity and cosmology: The Lightlike limit," Phys. Rev. D 43 (1991) 1129.
- M. Blau and M. O'Loughlin, "Horizon Shells and BMS-like Soldering Transformations," JHEP 1603, 029 (2016) arXiv:1512.02858 [hep-th].
- [24] S.W. Hawking, M.J. Perry, A. Strominger, "Superrotation Charge and Supertranslation Hair on Black Holes" JHEP 1705 (2017) 161. arXiv:1601.00921 [hep-th].
- [25] S.W. Hawking, M.J. Perry, A. Strominger, "Soft Hair on Black Holes" Phys.Rev.Lett. 116 (2016) 231301. arXiv:1601.00921 [hep-th].
- [26] A. Strominger and A. Zhiboedov, "Gravitational Memory, BMS Supertranslations and Soft Theorems," JHEP 1601, 086 (2016) arXiv:1411.5745 [hep-th].
- [27] Y. Zeldovich and A. Polnarev, "Radiation of gravitational waves by a cluster of superdense stars," Sov. Astron. AJ (Engl. Transl.), v. 18, no. 1, pp. 17-23 (Jul, 1974) 143.
  V. B. Braginsky and L. P. Grishchuk, "Kinematic Resonance and Memory Effect in Free Mass Gravitational Antennas," Sov. Phys. JETP 62 (1985) 427–430. [Zh. Eksp. Teor. Fiz.89,744(1985)]. V. B. Braginskii and K. S. Thorne, "Gravitational-wave bursts with memory and experimental prospects," Nature 327 (May, 1987) 123–125. D. Christodoulou, "Nonlinear nature of gravitation and gravitational wave experiments," Phys. Rev. Lett. 67 (1991) 1486–1489. A. G. Wiseman and C. M. Will, "Christodoulou's nonlinear gravitational wave memory: Evaluation in the quadrupole approximation," Phys.Rev.D 44 no. 10, (1991) R2945–R2949. L. Blanchet and T. Damour, "Hereditary effects in gravitational radiation," Phys.Rev.D46 (1992) 4304–4319. K. S. Thorne, "Gravitational-wave bursts with memory: The Christodoulou effect," Phys.Rev.D45 no. 2, (1992) 520–524, M. Favata. "The gravitational-wave memory effect," Class.Quant.Grav. 27 (2010) 084036,

arXiv:1003.3486 [gr-qc], A. Tolish and R. M. Wald, "Retarded Fields of Null Particles and the Memory Effect," Phys.Rev.D. **89** no. 6, (2014) 064008, arXiv:1401.5831 [gr-qc], A. Tolish, L. Bieri, D. Garfinkle, and R! M. Wald, "Examination of a simple example of gravitational wave memory," Phys. Rev. D. **90**] no. 4, (2014) 044060, arXiv:1405.6396, J. Winicour, "Global aspects of radiation memory," Class.Quant.Grav.**31** (2014) 205003, arXiv:1407.0259 [gr-qc].

- [28] A. Strominger, "Lectures on the Infrared Structure of Gravity and Gauge Theory, arXiv:1703.05448 [hep-th]. Section 6. and references therein.
- [29] A. Ashtekar, M. Campiglia and A. Laddha, "Null infinity, the BMS group and infrared issues," arXiv:1808.07093 [gr-qc].
- [30] C. Barrabes and P. A. Hogan, "Singular null hypersurfaces in general relativity", World Scientific (2002).
- [31] C. Barrabes and P. A. Hogan, "Detection of impulsive light like signals in general relativity," Int. J. Mod. Phys. D 10 (2001) 711, arXiv:[gr-qc/0105033].
- [32] E. Poisson, "A Relativist's Toolkit: The Mathematics of Black-Hole Mechanics" (pp. 28-58), Cambridge: Cambridge University Press (2004).
- [33] T. Hakobyan, A. Nersessian and M. M. Sheikh-Jabbari, "Near horizon extremal Myers-Perry black holes and integrability of associated conformal mechanics," Phys. Lett. B 772, 586 (2017).
- [34] B. A. Kupershmidt, "Integrable and superintegrable systems," Singapore, Singapore: World Scientific (1990) 388 p
- [35] W. Miller, Jr., S. Post and P. Winternitz, "Classical and Quantum Superintegrability with Applications," J. Phys. A 46, 423001 (2013).

- [36] J. Harnad and O. Yermolayeva, Superintegrability, Lax matrices and separation of variables, CRM Proc. Lect. Notes 37 (2004) 65.
- [37] B. Carter, "Global structure of the Kerr family of gravitational fields," Phys. Rev. 174, 1559 (1968); "Hamilton-Jacobi and Schrodinger separable solutions of Einstein's equations," Commun. Math. Phys. 10, 280 (1968).
  M. Walker and R. Penrose, "On quadratic first integrals of the geodesic equations for type

[22] spacetimes," Commun. Math. Phys. **18**, 265 (1970).

- [38] P. Claus, M. Derix, R. Kallosh, J. Kumar, P. K. Townsend and A. Van Proeyen, "Black holes and superconformal mechanics," Phys. Rev. Lett. 81 (1998) 4553 [hep-th/9804177].
- [39] V. P. Frolov and D. Stojkovic, "Particle and light motion in a space-time of a fivedimensional rotating black hole," Phys. Rev. D 68, 064011 (2003) [gr-qc/0301016].
- [40] A. Galajinsky, "Particle dynamics on  $AdS_2 \times S^2$  background with two-form flux," Phys. Rev. D **78** (2008) 044014 [arXiv:0806.1629 [hep-th]];
- [41] A. Galajinsky, "Particle dynamics near extreme Kerr throat and supersymmetry," JHEP 1011, 126 (2010) [arXiv:1009.2341 [hep-th]].
- [42] A. Galajinsky and A. Nersessian, "Conformal mechanics inspired by extremal black holes in d=4," JHEP 1111, 135 (2011) [arXiv:1108.3394 [hep-th]].
- [43] A. Galajinsky, "Near horizon black holes in diverse dimensions and integrable models," Phys. Rev. D 87, no. 2, 024023 (2013) [arXiv:1209.5034 [hep-th]].
- [44] A. Galajinsky and K. Orekhov, "N=2 superparticle near horizon of extreme Kerr-Newman-AdS-dS black hole," Nucl. Phys. B 850, 339 (2011) [arXiv:1103.1047 [hep-th]].
- [45] S. Bellucci, A. Nersessian and V. Yeghikyan, "Action-Angle Variables for the Particle Near Extreme Kerr Throat," Mod. Phys. Lett. A 27 (2012) 1250191, [arXiv:1112.4713[hep-th]].

- [46] A. Saghatelian, "Near-horizon dynamics of particle in extreme Reissner-Nordström and Clement-Gal'tsov black hole backgrounds: action-angle variables," Class. Quant. Grav. 29 (2012) 245018, [arXiv:1205.6270[hep-th]].
- [47] A. Galajinsky and K. Orekhov, "On the near horizon rotating black hole geometries with NUT charges," Eur. Phys. J. C 76, no. 9, 477 (2016) [arXiv:1604.08056 [gr-qc]].
- [48] A. Galajinsky, A. Nersessian and A. Saghatelian, "Superintegrable models related to near horizon extremal Myers-Perry black hole in arbitrary dimension," JHEP 1306, 002 (2013) [arXiv:1303.4901 [hep-th]];
- [49] A. Galajinsky, A. Nersessian and A. Saghatelian, "Action-angle variables for spherical mechanics related to near horizon extremal Myers–Perry black hole," J. Phys. Conf. Ser. 474, 012019 (2013).
- [50] V. P. Frolov, P. Krtous and D. Kubiznak, "Separability of Hamilton-Jacobi and Klein-Gordon Equations in General Kerr-NUT-AdS Spacetimes," JHEP 0702, 005 (2007).
  P. Krtous, D. Kubiznak, D. N. Page and M. Vasudevan, "Constants of geodesic motion in higher-dimensional black-hole spacetimes," Phys. Rev. D 76, 084034 (2007); "Complete integrability of geodesic motion in general Kerr-NUT-AdS spacetimes," Phys. Rev. Lett. 98, 061102 (2007).
- [51] S. Benenti and M. Francaviglia, Gen. Rel. Grav. 10, 79 (1979)
- [52] P. Krtous, D. Kubiznak, D. N. Page and V. P. Frolov, "Killing-Yano Tensors, Rank-2 Killing Tensors, and Conserved Quantities in Higher Dimensions," JHEP 0702, 004 (2007).
- [53] D. Kubiznak and P. Krtous, "On conformal Killing-Yano tensors for Plebanski-Demianski family of solutions," Phys. Rev. D 76, 084036 (2007).

- [54] M. Cariglia, P. Krtous and D. Kubiznak, "Dirac Equation in Kerr-NUT-(A)dS Spacetimes: Intrinsic Characterization of Separability in All Dimensions," Phys. Rev. D 84, 024008 (2011).
- [55] J. Xu and R. H. Yue, "On Hidden Symmetries of d > 4 NHEK-N-AdS Geometry," Commun. Theor. Phys. 63, no. 1, 31 (2015).
  D. Chernyavsky, "Reducibility of Killing tensors in d > 4 NHEK geometry," J. Geom. Phys. 83, 12 (2014).
- [56] Y. Chervonyi and O. Lunin, "(Non)-Integrability of Geodesics in D-brane Backgrounds," JHEP 1402, 061 (2014) [arXiv:1311.1521 [hep-th]]; "Killing(-Yano) Tensors in String Theory," JHEP 1509, 182 (2015) [arXiv:1505.06154 [hep-th]].

O. Lunin, "Maxwell's equations in the Myers-Perry geometry," JHEP **1712**, 138 (2017) [arXiv:1708.06766 [hep-th]].

- [57] V. Frolov, P. Krtous and D. Kubiznak, "Black holes, hidden symmetries, and complete integrability," Living Rev. Rel. 20, no. 1, 6 (2017).
- [58] J. M. Bardeen and G. T. Horowitz, "The Extreme Kerr throat geometry: A Vacuum analog of  $AdS_2 \times S^2$ ," Phys. Rev. D 60 (1999) 104030.

H. K. Kunduri, J. Lucietti and H. S. Reall, "Near-horizon symmetries of extremal black holes," Class. Quant. Grav. 24, 4169 (2007).

H. K. Kunduri and J. Lucietti, "A Classification of near-horizon geometries of extremal vacuum black holes," J. Math. Phys. 50, 082502 (2009).

H. K. Kunduri and J. Lucietti, "Classification of near-horizon geometries of extremal black holes," Living Rev. Rel. 16, 8 (2013).

- [59] J. E. McClintock, R. Shafee, R. Narayan, R. A. Remillard, S. W. Davis and L. X. Li, "The Spin of the Near-Extreme Kerr Black Hole GRS 1915+105," Astrophys. J. 652, 518 (2006).
- [60] H. Falcke, F. Melia and E. Agol, "Viewing the shadow of the black hole at the galactic center," Astrophys. J. 528 (2000) L13.
- [61] P. Figueras, H. K. Kunduri, J. Lucietti and M. Rangamani, "Extremal vacuum black holes in higher dimensions," Phys. Rev. D 78 (2008) 044042.
- [62] T. Hakobyan, A. Nersessian and V. Yeghikyan, "Cuboctahedric Higgs oscillator from the Calogero model," J. Phys. A 42 (2009) 205206 [arXiv:0808.0430 [math-ph]].
- [63] T. Hakobyan, S. Krivonos, O. Lechtenfeld and A. Nersessian, "Hidden symmetries of integrable conformal mechanical systems," Phys. Lett. A 374 (2010) 801 [arXiv:0908.3290 [hep-th]].
- [64] T. Hakobyan, O. Lechtenfeld and A. Nersessian, "The spherical sector of the Calogero model as a reduced matrix model," Nucl. Phys. B 858 (2012) 250 [arXiv:1110.5352 [hepth]].
- [65] M. Feigin, O. Lechtenfeld and A. P. Polychronakos, "The quantum angular Calogero-Moser model," JHEP 1307 (2013) 162 [arXiv:1305.5841 [math-ph]].
- [66] M. Feigin and T. Hakobyan, "On Dunkl angular momenta algebra," JHEP 1511 (2015)
   107 [arXiv:1409.2480 [math-ph]].
- [67] F. Correa and O. Lechtenfeld, "The tetrahexahedric angular Calogero model," JHEP 1510
   (2015) 191 [arXiv:1508.04925 [hep-th]].
- [68] T. Hakobyan, A. Nersessian and H. Shmavonyan, "Lobachevsky geometry in TTW and PW systems," Phys. Atom. Nucl. 80, no. 3, 598 (2017) [arXiv:1512.07489 [math-ph]].

- [69] T. Hakobyan, A. Nersessian and H. Shmavonyan, "Symmetries in superintegrable deformations of oscillator and Coulomb systems: Holomorphic factorization," Phys. Rev. D 95, no. 2, 025014 (2017) [arXiv:1612.00794 [hep-th]].
- [70] T. Hakobyan, A. Nersessian and H. Shmavonyan, "Constants of motion in deformed oscillator and Coulomb systems," Phys. Part. Nucl. Lett. 14, no. 2, 400 (2017).
- [71] T. Hakobyan, O. Lechtenfeld, A. Nersessian and A. Saghatelian, "Invariants of the spherical sector in conformal mechanics," J. Phys. A 44, 055205 (2011) [arXiv:1008.2912 [hepth]].
- [72] M. O'Loughlin and H. Demirchian, "Geodesic congruences, impulsive gravitational waves and gravitational memory," Phys. Rev. D 99, no. 2, 024031 (2019) arXiv:1808.04886 [hepth].
- [73] H. Demirchian, A. Nersessian, S. Sadeghian and M. M. Sheikh-Jabbari, "Integrability of geodesics in near-horizon extremal geometries: Case of Myers-Perry black holes in arbitrary dimensions," Phys. Rev. D 97, no. 10, 104004 (2018) arXiv:1802.03551 [hep-th].
- [74] H. Demirchyan, A. Nersessian, S. Sadeghian and M. M. Sheikh-Jabbari, "Integrability of Geodesics in Near-Horizon Extremal Vanishing Horizon Myers–Perry Black Holes," Phys. Atom. Nucl. 81, no. 6, 907 (2018).
- [75] H. Demirchian, T. Hakobyan, A. Nersessian and M. M. Sheikh-Jabbari, "Myers-Perry Conformal Mechanics," Phys. Part. Nucl. 49, no. 5, 860 (2018).
- [76] O. Evnin, H. Demirchian and A. Nersessian, "Mapping superintegrable quantum mechanics to resonant spacetimes," Phys. Rev. D 97, no. 2, 025014 (2018) [arXiv:1711.03297 [hep-th]].
- [77] H. Demirchian, "Note on constants of motion in conformal mechanics associated with near horizon extremal Myers-Perry black holes," Mod. Phys. Lett. A 32 (2017) 1750144.

[78] R. C. Myers and M. J. Perry, "Black Holes in Higher Dimensional Space-Times," Annals Phys. 172 (1986) 304.

R. C. Myers, "Myers-Perry black holes".

- [79] M. M. Sheikh-Jabbari and H. Yavartanoo, "EVH Black Holes, AdS3 Throats and EVH/CFT Proposal," JHEP 1110, 013 (2011).
- [80] J. de Boer, M. Johnstone, M. M. Sheikh-Jabbari and J. Simon, "Emergent IR Dual 2d CFTs in Charged AdS5 Black Holes," Phys. Rev. D 85 (2012) 084039.
  H. Golchin, M. M. Sheikh-Jabbari and A. Ghodsi, "Dual 2d CFT Identification of Extremal Black Rings from Holes," JHEP 1310, 194 (2013).
- [81] C. Burdik and A. Nersessian, Remarks on Multi-Dimensional Conformal Mechanics, SIGMA 5 (2009) 004.
- [82] I. Kolar and P. Krtous, "NUT-like and near-horizon limits of Kerr-NUT-(A)dS spacetimes," Phys. Rev. D 95, no. 12, 124044 (2017).
- [83] E. Rosochatius, Uber die Bewegung eines Punktes, (Inaugural Dissertation, Universitat Gottingen, Gebr. Unger) 1877 (Berlin);

T. Ratiu, "The Lie Algebraic Interpretation of the Complete Integrability of the Rosochatius System," in *Mathematical Methods in Hydrodynamics and Integrability in Dynamical Systems*, AIP Conference Procs.88 109-115 (AIP, New York) 1982.

- [84] S. Sadeghian, M. M. Sheikh-Jabbari, M. H. Vahidinia and H. Yavartanoo, "Three Theorems on Near Horizon Extremal Vanishing Horizon Geometries," Phys. Lett. B 753, 488 (2016); "Near Horizon Structure of Extremal Vanishing Horizon Black Holes," Nucl. Phys. B 900, 222 (2015).
- [85] S. Sadeghian and M. H. Vahidinia, "AdS<sub>3</sub> to dS<sub>3</sub> transition in the near horizon of asymptotically de Sitter solutions," Phys. Rev. D 96, no. 4, 044004 (2017).

- [86] V. P. Frolov and D. Kubiznak, "Hidden Symmetries of Higher Dimensional Rotating Black Holes," Phys. Rev. Lett. 98, 011101 (2007).
- [87] D. Kubiznak and V. P. Frolov, "Hidden Symmetry of Higher Dimensional Kerr-NUT-AdS Spacetimes," Class. Quant. Grav. 24, no. 3, F1 (2007).
- [88] B. Rink, Lecture notes on Geometric Mechanics and Dynamics, http://www.few.vu.nl/~brink/Preview.pdf.
- [89] G. W. Gibbons, The Jacobi-metric for timelike geodesics in static spacetimes, Class. Quant. Grav. 33 (2016) 025004 arXiv:1508.06755 [gr-qc].
- [90] S. Chanda, G. W. Gibbons and P. Guha, Jacobi-Maupertuis-Eisenhart metric and geodesic flows, J. Math. Phys. 58 (2017) 032503 arXiv:1612.00375 [math-ph].
- [91] O. C. Onge, Curvature and Mechanics, Advances in Mathematics 15 (1975) 269-311.
- [92] H. Yamabe, On a deformation of Riemannian structures on compact manifolds, Osaka J.
   Math. 12 (1960) 21.
- [93] J. M. Lee and T. H. Parker, The Yamabe problem, Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. 17 (1987) 37.
- [94] T. Aubin, Some nonlinear problems in Riemannian geometry (Springer, 1998).
- [95] O. Evnin and C. Krishnan, A Hidden Symmetry of AdS Resonances, Phys. Rev. D 91 (2015) 126010 arXiv:1502.03749 [hep-th].
- [96] O. Evnin and R. Nivesvivat, AdS perturbations, isometries, selection rules and the Higgs oscillator, JHEP 1601 (2016) 151 arXiv:1512.00349 [hep-th].
- [97] O. Evnin and R. Nivesvivat, Hidden symmetries of the Higgs oscillator and the conformal algebra, J. Phys. A 50 (2017) 015202 arXiv:1604.00521 [nlin.SI].
- [98] P. W. Higgs, Dynamical symmetries in a spherical geometry 1, J. Phys. A 12 (1979) 309.

- [99] H. I. Leemon, Dynamical symmetries in a spherical geometry 2, J. Phys. A 12 (1979) 489.
- [100] B. Craps, O. Evnin and J. Vanhoof, Renormalization group, secular term resummation and AdS (in)stability, JHEP 1410 (2014) 48 arXiv:1407.6273 [gr-qc].
- [101] B. Craps, O. Evnin and J. Vanhoof, Renormalization, averaging, conservation laws and AdS (in)stability, JHEP 1501 (2015) 108 arXiv:1412.3249 [gr-qc].
- [102] I-S. Yang, Missing top of the AdS resonance structure, Phys. Rev. D 91 (2015) 065011 arXiv:1501.00998 [hep-th].
- [103] P. Bizoń and A. Rostworowski, On weakly turbulent instability of anti-de Sitter space, Phys. Rev. Lett. 107 (2011) 031102 arXiv:1104.3702 [gr-qc].
- [104] B. Craps and O. Evnin, AdS (in)stability: an analytic approach, Fortsch. Phys. 64 (2016)
  336 arXiv:1510.07836 [gr-qc].
- [105] J. Harnad and O. Yermolayeva, Superintegrability, Lax matrices and separation of variables, CRM Proc. Lect. Notes 37 (2004) 65 arXiv:nlin/0303009 [nlin.SI].
- [106] A. Galajinsky, A. Nersessian and A. Saghatelian, Superintegrable models related to near horizon extremal Myers-Perry black hole in arbitrary dimension, JHEP 1306 (2013) 002 arXiv:1303.4901 [hep-th].
- [107] E. Rosochatius, Uber die Bewegung eines Punktes (Doctoral dissertation, University of Göttingen, 1877).
- [108] Encyclopedia of integrable systems, edited by A. B. Shabat et al, http://home.itp.ac.ru/~adler/E/e.pdf
- [109] M. Feigin, O. Lechtenfeld and A. P. Polychronakos, The quantum angular Calogero-Moser model, JHEP 1307 (2013) 162 arXiv:1305.5841 [math-ph].

- [110] T. Hakobyan, O. Lechtenfeld and A. Nersessian, Superintegrability of generalized Calogero models with oscillator or Coulomb potential, Phys. Rev. D 90 (2014) 101701 arXiv:1409.8288 [hep-th].
- [111] F. Correa, T. Hakobyan, O. Lechtenfeld and A. Nersessian, Spherical Calogero model with oscillator/Coulomb potential: quantum case, Phys. Rev. D 93 (2016) 125009 arXiv:1604.00027 [hep-th].
- [112] G. Pöschl and E. Teller, Bemerkungen zur Quantenmechanik des anharmonischen Oszillators, Zeitschr. Phys. 83 (1933) 143.
- [113] N. D. Birrell and P. C. W. Davies, Quantum field theory in curved spacetime, (CUP, 1986).
- [114] F. Correa, V. Jakubsky and M. S. Plyushchay, Aharonov-Bohm effect on AdS(2) and nonlinear supersymmetry of reflectionless Poschl-Teller system, Annals Phys. 324 (2009) 1078 arXiv:0809.2854 [hep-th].
- [115] M. Lakshmanan and K. Eswaran, Quantum dynamics of a solvable nonlinear chiral model,
   J. Phys. A 8 (1975) 1658.
- [116] V. Cardoso, T. Houri and M. Kimura, Mass Ladder Operators from Spacetime Conformal Symmetry, Phys. Rev. D 96 (2017) 024044 arXiv:1706.07339 [hep-th].
- [117] D. Karateev, P. Kravchuk and D. Simmons-Duffin, Weight shifting operators and conformal blocks, arXiv:1706.07813 [hep-th].
- [118] V. Cardoso, T. Houri and M. Kimura, General first-order mass ladder operators for Klein-Gordon fields, arXiv:1707.08534 [hep-th].
- [119] W. Mück, Ladder operators for Klein-Gordon equation with scalar curvature term, arXiv:1710.01283 [gr-qc].

- [120] L. Infeld, T. E. Hull, The factorization method, Rev. Mod. Phys. 23 (1951) 21.
- [121] L. Mardoyan, A. Nersessian and A. Yeranyan, Relationship between quantum mechanics with and without monopoles, Phys. Lett. A 366 (2007) 30 arXiv:hep-th/0610301.